The Mazur-Ulam property for a Banach space which satisfies a separation condition

By

Osamu Hatori*

Abstract

After some preparations in section 1, we recall the three well known concepts: the Choquet boundary, the Silov boundary, and the strong boundary points in section 2. We need to define them by avoiding the confusion which appears because of the variety of names of these concepts; they sometimes differs from authors to authors. We describe the relationship between the three concepts emphasizing the case where a function space strongly separates the points in the underlying space. We study C-rich spaces, lush spaces, and extremely C-regular spaces concerning with the Mazur-Ulam property in section 3. We show that a uniform algebra and the uniform closure of the real part of a uniform algebra with the supremum norm are C-rich spaces, hence lush spaces. We prove that a uniformly closed subalgebra of the algebra of all complex-valued continuous functions on a locally compact Hausdorff space which vanish at infinity is extremely C-regular provided that it separates the points of the underlying space and has no common zeros. We exhibit a space of harmonic functions which has the Mazur-Ulam property (Corollary 3.8). The main concern in sections 4 through 6 is the Mazur-Ulam property. We exhibit a sufficient condition on a Banach space which has the Mazur-Ulam property and the complex Mazur-Ulam property (Propositions 4.11 and 4.12). In sections 5 and 6 we consider a Banach space with a separation condition (*) (Definition 5.1). We prove that a real Banach space satisfying (*) has the Mazur-Ulam property (Theorem 6.1), and a complex Banach space satisfying (*) has the complex Mazur-Ulam property (Theorem 6.3). Applying these theorems and the results in the previous sections we prove that an extremely C-regular real (resp. complex) linear subspace has the (resp. complex) Mazur-Ulam property (Corollary 6.2 (resp. 6.4)) in section 6. As a consequence we prove that any closed subalgebra of the algebra of all complex-valued continuous functions defined on a locally compact Hausdorff space has the complex Mazur-Ulam property (Corollary 6.5).

Received April 11, 2022. Revised May 10, 2023.

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification(s): 46B04, 46B20, 46J10, 46J15

Key Words: Tingley's problem, the Mazur-Ulam property, surjective isometries, uniform algebras, function algebras, maximal convex sets, Choquet boundaries, Šilov boundaries, strongly separates the points, strong boundary points, extremely C-regular spaces, C-rich spaces, lush spaces, the Hausdorff distance.

This work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers JP19K03536 and the Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences, an International Joint Usage/Research Center located in Kyoto University.

*Niigata University, Niigata 950-2181, Japan. e-mail: hatori@math.sc.niigata-u.ac.jp

^{© 2023} Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Kyoto University. All rights reserved.

Contents

- § 1. Introduction
- § 2. Strong boundary points, Choquet boundary points and Šilov boundary points
 - § 2.1. Function spaces which strongly separate the points in the underlying spaces
 - § 2.2. Strong boundary points
 - § 2.3. The Choquet boundary and the Šilov boundary
 - § 2.3.1. Definition of the Choquet boundary.
 - § 2.3.2. The representing measures and the Arens-Kelley theorem revisited
 - § 2.3.3. Relationship among three properties about a point x: (i) being a strong boundary point; (ii) being in the Choquet boundary; (iii) the representing measure for the point evaluation at x is unique.
 - § 2.3.4. The Šilov boundary
- $\S 3$. C-rich spaces, lush spaces and extremely C-regular spaces
 - § 3.1. C-richness, lushness, the numerical index and the Mazur-Ulam property.
 - § 3.2. Extremely regular spaces and extremely C-regular spaces.
 - § 3.3. Some properties of closed subalgebras of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{C})$.
- § 4. Sets of representatives
 - § 4.1. Is the homogeneous extension linear?
 - § 4.2. The Hausdorff distance condition.
 - § 4.3. The set $M_{p,\alpha}$ and the Mazur-Ulam property
 - § 4.3.1. A sufficient condition for the Mazur-Ulam property : the case of a real Banach space.
 - § 4.3.2. A sufficient condition for the complex Mazur-Ulam property : the case of a complex Banach space.
- § 5. Banach spaces which satisfy the condition (*)
- § 6. Banach spaces which satisfy the condition (*) and the Mazur-Ulam property
- § 7. Final remarks

References

§ 1. Introduction

Tingley's problem asks whether every surjective isometry between the unit spheres of Banach spaces is linearly extended to a surjective isometry between the whole spaces.

Tingley [53] raised this problem in 1987. First solution of Tingley's problem seems to be due to Wang [54], who dealt with the space of all \mathbb{K} -valued ($\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C}) continuous functions which vanish at infinity on a locally compact Hausdorff space Y (cf. [55]). A considerable number of interesting results have shown that Tingley's problem has an affirmative answer in concrete spaces, and no counterexample is known. According to [58, p.730], Ding was the first to consider Tingley's problem between different type of spaces [20]. In fact, Ding [21, Corollary 2] proved that the real Banach space of all null sequences of real numbers satisfies what we now call the Mazur-Ulam property. Liu [32] also had an early contribution to the Tingley's problem on different types of spaces. Later, Cheng and Dong [15] formally introduced the concept of the Mazur-Ulam property.

Definition 1.1. A real Banach space B has the *Mazur-Ulam property* if for any real Banach space B', every surjective isometry from the unit sphere of B onto the unit sphere of B' admits an extension to a surjective real-linear isometry from B onto B'.

Tan [47, 48, 49] showed that the space $L^p(\mathbb{R})$ for σ -finite positive measure space has the Mazur-Ulam property. Boyko, Kadets, Martín and Werner introduced C-richness [11, Definition 2.3] and lushness [11, Definition 2.1] for subspaces of continuous functions and proved that a C-rich subspace is lush [11, Theorem 2.4]. Tan, Huang and Liu [50] introduced the notion of local GL (generalized lush) spaces and proved that every local GL space has the Mazur-Ulam property.

Tanaka [52] opened another direction in the study of Tingley's problem by exhibiting a positive solution for the Banach algebra of complex matrices. Mori and Ozawa [35] proved that the Mazur-Ulam property for unital C^* -algebras and real von Neumann algebras. Cueto-Avellaneda and Peralta [18] proved that the complex (resp. real) Banach space of all continuous maps taking values in a complex (resp. real) Hilbert space has the Mazur-Ulam property (cf. [19]). The results by Becerra-Guerrero, Cueto-Avellaneda, Fernández-Polo and Peralta [6] and Kalenda and Peralta [31] proved that any JBW*-triple has the Mazur-Ulam property. Peralta and Švarc [40] extends the results of Mori and Ozawa [35] for unital JB*-algebras.

The Mazur-Ulam property for a Banach space of dimension 2 has remained unsolved for many years. The final solution was exhibited by the remarkable outstanding advance of Banakh [4] who proved that any Banach space of dimension 2 has the Mazur-Ulam property. The problem on a Banach space of a finite dimension greater than 2 seems to be still open. The study of the Mazur-Ulam property is nowadays a challenging subject of study (cf. [13, 56]). Jiménez-Vargas, Morales-Compoy, Peralta and Ramírez [28, Theorems 3.8, 3.9] probably provided the first example of complex Banach spaces having the complex Mazur-Ulam property (cf. [38]). Hatori [26] formally introduced the concept of the complex Mazur-Ulam property.

Definition 1.2. A complex Banach space B is said to have the *complex Mazur-Ulam property*, emphasizing the term 'complex', if for any complex Banach space B', every surjective isometry from the unit sphere of B onto the unit sphere of B' admits an extension to a surjective real-linear isometry from B onto B'

Note that a complex Banach space has the complex Mazur-Ulam property provided that it has the Mazur-Ulam property as a real Banach space since a complex Banach space is a real Banach space simultaneously.

The complex Mazur-Ulam property for uniform algebras was proved in [26]. The existence of unit in a uniform algebra is a key point for the proof of the property. The complex Mazur-Ulam property for a uniformly closed algebra on a locally compact Hausdorff space is a problem in [26]. Cueto-Avellaneda, Hirota, Miura and Peralta [17] recently showed that each surjective isometry between the unit spheres of two uniformly closed algebras on locally compact Hausdorff spaces which separates the points without common zeros admits an extension to a surjective real linear isometry between these algebras. Very recently, Cabezas, Cueto-Avellaneda, Hirota, Miura and Peralta [14] proved the complex Mazur-Ulam property for a commutative JB*-triple. Both results concerns the spaces of continuous functions without constants. Peralta [39] probably gives the first example of an infinite dimensional non-commutative C*-algebra containing no unitaries and with the Mazur-Ulam property. Note that the Mazur-Ulam property, or even the complex Mazur-Ulam property for general non-unital C*-algebras seems to be still missing.

In this paper we further study the problem on the complex Mazur-Ulam property. We introduce a separation condition which is named (*) for a Banach space in section 5. We prove that a real (resp. complex) Banach space which satisfies the condition (*) has the (resp. complex) Mazur-Ulam property. An extremely C-regular subspace satisfies the condition (*). It was introduced by Fleming and Jamison [24, Definition 2.3.9], which is a generalization of an extremely regular subspace coined by Cengiz [16]. We prove that an extremely C-regular complex linear subspace has the complex Mazur-Ulam property (Corollary 6.4). As a consequence the complex Mazur-Ulam property for a closed subalgebra of the algebra of all complex-valued continuous functions defined on a locally compact Hausdorff space is established (Corollary 6.5).

We recall the notions of the Choquet boundary, the strong boundary, and the strong separation of the points in the underlying space in section 3. We are aware that many of results in section 3 are a part of folklore, but for the sake of self-contained exposition and for the convenience of the readers who might not be familiar with these concepts for function spaces without constants, we include as many complete proofs of results as possible.

For a real or complex Banach space B the unit sphere $\{a \in B : ||a|| = 1\}$ of B is

denoted by S(B) and the closed unit ball $\{a \in B : ||a|| \le 1\}$ by Ball(B). The set of all maximal convex subsets of S(B) is denoted by \mathfrak{F}_B . We denote by $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ (resp. \mathbb{C}) the set of all real (resp. complex) numbers. We denote the open unit disk in \mathbb{C} by D, the closed unit disk by \bar{D} , and $\mathbb{T} = \{z \in \mathbb{K} : |z| = 1\}$. Throughout the paper Y denotes a locally compact Hausdorff space and X a compact Hausdorff space. The space of all \mathbb{K} -valued continuous functions on Y which vanish at infinity is denoted by $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. If Y is compact, then we simply denote $C(Y,\mathbb{K})$ instead of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. The supremum norm on a subset W of Y is denoted by $\|\cdot\|_{\infty(W)}$ or $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$. For a function $f \in C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$ and $S \subset Y$, we denote the restriction of f on S by f|S. For $A \subset C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$ and $S \subset Y$, we denote $A|S = \{f|S \colon f \in A\}$.

§ 2. Strong boundary points, Choquet boundary points and Šilov boundary points

§ 2.1. Function spaces which strongly separate the points in the underlying spaces

The definition of "strongly separate the points" in this paper is due to that of Araujo and Font [2]. Some authors use this term for a different notion (cf. Stout [46, p.36] and Miura [33, p.779])

Definition 2.1. Let E be a complex (resp. real) linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ (resp. $C_0(Y,\mathbb{R})$). We say that E (resp. strongly) separates the points of Y, if for every pair $x, y \in Y$ with $x \neq y$ there exists $f \in E$ such that $f(x) \neq f(y)$ (resp. $|f(x)| \neq |f(y)|$). We say that E has no common zeros if for every $x \in Y$ there exists $f \in E$ such that $f(x) \neq 0$.

The following example exhibits an important space of functions which separates, but does not strongly separate the points of the underlying space.

Example 2.2. The space $C_0(Y,\mathbb{R})$ and $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ strongly separate points of Y and have no common zeros by the Urysohn's lemma. Let B be a complex Banach space. For $a \in B$ we denotes $\hat{a} : \operatorname{Ball}(B^*) \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{C}$ by $\hat{a}(q) = q(a)$ for $q \in \operatorname{Ball}(B^*) \setminus \{0\}$. Then $\hat{B} = \{\hat{a} : a \in B\}$ is a uniformly closed subspace of $C_0(\operatorname{Ball}(B^*) \setminus \{0\}, \mathbb{C})$ which separates the points of $\operatorname{Ball}(B^*) \setminus \{0\}$. On the other hand $|\hat{a}(p)| = |\hat{a}(-p)|$ for any $a \in B$ and $p \in \operatorname{Ball}(B^*) \setminus \{0\}$, that is, \hat{B} does not strongly separate the points of the underlying space $\operatorname{Ball}(B^*) \setminus \{0\}$. The situation is similar for a real Banach space.

In some cases, both separation conditions are equivalent. In fact, we have the following.

Proposition 2.3. Supposes that E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$, such that $1 \in E$, where X is a compact Hausdorff space. If E separates the points of X, then E strongly separates the points of X. Suppose that A is a subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ which separates the points of Y. Then A strongly separates the points of Y.

Proof. We prove the first assertion. Suppose that $x, y \in X$ with $x \neq y$. Then there exists $f \in E$ such that $f(x) \neq f(y)$. If f(x) = 0, then $|f(x)| \neq |f(y)|$. If $f(x) \neq 0$ then |f| or |f + f(x)| separates x and y, where $f + f(x) \in E$ since E contains constants.

Next suppose that A is a subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Suppose that $x, y \in Y$ with $x \neq y$. Then there exists $f \in A$ such that $f(x) \neq f(y)$. If f(y) = 0, then $f(x) \neq 0$ and $|f(x)| \neq |f(y)|$ follows. We may assume that f(y) = 1. Suppose that |f(x)| = |f(y)|. Then there exists a complex number λ with unit modulus such that $f(y) = \lambda f(x)$. As $\lambda \neq 1$, we infer that $|\lambda^2 + \lambda| < 2$. Hence we have

$$|f(x) + f(x)^2| = |\lambda + \lambda^2| < 2 = |f(y) + f(y)^2|.$$

Hence $f + f^2 \in A$ strongly separates x and y.

Definition 2.4. We say that A is a *uniform algebra* on a compact Hausdorff space X if A is a closed subalgebra of $C(X,\mathbb{C})$ which contains constants and separates the points of X.

A uniform algebra on X not only separates the points of X but also strongly separates the points of X since A contains constants. For the theory of uniform algebras, see [12, 25, 46]. A uniform algebra is called a function algebra in [12].

§ 2.2. Strong boundary points

The author kindly points out that the definition of a strong boundary point sometimes differs from authors to authors. Stout in [46, Definition 7.6] says that $x_0 \in Y$ is a strong boundary point for a certain *subalgebra* of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ with some condition if for each open neighborhood U of x_0 there exists $f \in A$ such that

$$1 = f(x_0) = ||f||_{\infty}$$
 and $|f(x)| < 1$ for all $x \in Y \setminus U$.

Araujo and Font [3, p. 80] follow this definition not only for a subalgebra but also for a linear subspace. Rao and Roy [43, Definition 8] recall the notion of a strong boundary point from [46] for a linear subspace. Note that a weak peak point (peak point in the weak sense in [12]) for a uniform algebra (function algebra in [12]) is also referred to as a strong boundary point in [12, p.96]. In a book of Gamelin [25] a weak peak set (resp. point) is referred to as a p-set (resp. point) or a generalized peak set (resp. point).

The definition of a strong boundary point for a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace E of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ due to Fleming and Jamison [24, Definition 2.3.9]: a point $x_0 \in Y$ is a strong boundary point for E if for each open neighborhood U of x_0 , and each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $f \in E$ such that $1 = f(x_0) = ||f||$, and $|f(x)| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in Y \setminus U$, is stronger than that given in Definition 2.5. Note that the formula in the fourth line of [24, Definition 2.3.9] reads as $1 = f(s_0) = ||f||$: not s but s_0 .

In this paper, we adapt the definition of a strong boundary point for a subspaces of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ following Stout.

Definition 2.5. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. We say that a point $x_0 \in Y$ is a *strong boundary point* for E if for each open neighborhood U of x_0 there exists $f \in E$ such that

$$1 = f(x_0) = ||f||_{\infty}$$
, and $|f(x)| < 1$ for all $x \in Y \setminus U$.

We say that a closed subset K of Y is a peak set for E if there exists a function $f \in E$ such that

$$f = 1$$
 on K and $|f| < 1$ on $Y \setminus K$.

We say that any such f peaks on K and f is a peaking function for K. A weak peak set (or peak set in the weak sense) for E is a non-empty intersection of peak sets for E. A point $y_0 \in Y$ is called a peak point for E if $\{y_0\}$ is a peak set for E. A point $y_0 \in Y$ is called a weak peak point (or peak point in the weak sense) for E if $\{y_0\}$ is a weak peak set for E.

The following exhibits simple examples which show that the condition of a *strong* boundary point in the sense of Fleming and Jamison is strictly stronger than that in Definition 2.5.

Example 2.6. Let $f_0:(0,1]\to\mathbb{R}$ be defined as

$$f_0(t) = \begin{cases} t, & 0 < t \le \frac{1}{2}, \\ -\frac{3}{2}t + \frac{5}{4}, & \frac{1}{2} \le t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Let $g:(0,1]\to\mathbb{R}$ be

$$g_0(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & 0 < t \le \frac{1}{2} \\ -(t - \frac{1}{2})(t - 1), & \frac{1}{2} \le t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Put $E = \{\lambda f_0 + \mu g_0 : \lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{K}\}$. Then E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0((0,1],\mathbb{K})$ which strongly separates the points of (0,1]. The point $\frac{1}{2}$ is a strong boundary point (in the sense of Definition 2.5) for the space E while it does not satisfy the condition due to Fleming and Jamison [24, Definition 2.3.9].

Example 2.7. Let $E = \{f : f(t) = at + b, \exists a, b \in \mathbb{K}\} \subset C([0, 1], \mathbb{K})$. Then 0 and 1 are strong boundary points in the sense of Definition 2.5. On the other hand, there is no strong boundary points in the sense of Fleming and Jamison.

In some situation, both are equivalent.

Proposition 2.8. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -subalgebra of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. Suppose that $x \in Y$. Then x is a strong boundary point in the sense of Definition 2.5 if and only if it is a strong boundary point in the sense of Fleming and Jamison.

Proof. Suppose that x is a strong boundary point in the sense of Definition 2.5. Suppose that U is an open neighborhood of x_0 and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists a function $f \in E$ such that $1 = f(x_0) = ||f||_{\infty}$, and |f(x)| < 1 for all $x \in Y \setminus U$. As f vanishes at infinity, there exists an 0 < M < 10 such that |f(x)| < M for all $x \in Y \setminus U$. Choose a large natural number n so that $M^n < \varepsilon$. Then $f^n \in E$ and $1 = f^n(x_0) = ||f^n||_{\infty}$, and $|f^n(x)| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in Y \setminus U$, that is, x_0 is a strong boundary point in the sense of Fleming and Jamison.

It is straightforward that a strong boundary point in the sense of Fleming and Jamison is one in the sense of Defintion 2.5 \Box

Recall that the peripheral range $\operatorname{Ran}_{\pi}(f)$ of $f \in C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ is the set $\{z \in f(Y) : |z| = ||f||_{\infty}\}$. A function $f \in E$ is a peaking function for a closed subsest of Y if and only if $\operatorname{Ran}_{\pi}(f) = \{1\}$.

Proposition 2.9. Let E be a uniformly closed \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Let $x_0 \in Y$. Then the following are equivalent.

- (i) The point x_0 is a strong boundary point for E,
- (ii) for every open neighborhood U of x_0 , there exists $f \in E$ such that

$$f(x_0) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$$
 and $|f(x)| < 1$ for every $x \in Y \setminus U$

and $\operatorname{Ran}_{\pi}(f) = \{1\},\$

(iii) the point x_0 is a weak peak point for E

Proof. We prove (i) implies (ii). Suppose (i) holds. Let U be an open neighborhood of x_0 . Then there exists $f \in E$ with $f(x_0) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$ and |f| < 1 on $Y \setminus U$. Put $U_n = \{y \in Y : |f(y) - 1| < 1/n\}$ for each positive integer n. Then $U \cap U_n$ is an open neighborhood of x_0 . As $f^{-1}(1) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$, $f^{-1}(1)$ is a G_{δ} set, which is an intersection of a countable open sets. By (i) there exists a function $f_n \in E$ such

that $f_n(x_0) = 1 = ||f_n||_{\infty}$, $|f_n| < 1$ on $Y \setminus (U \cap U_n)$. Put $g = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (f_n/2^n)$. Then $g \in E$ since E is closed in $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. For every $x \in Y \setminus U$, we have $x \in Y \setminus (U \cap U_1)$, hence $|f_1(x)| < 1$, so |g(x)| < 1. Suppose that |g(y)| = 1 for some $y \in Y$. Since $1 = |g(y)| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |f_n(y)|/2^n \le 1$, we infer that $|f_n(y)| = 1$ for every n. We conclude that $x \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$. Put h = (f+g)/2. Then $h(x_0) = 1 = ||h||_{\infty}$ and |h| < 1 on $Y \setminus U$. Suppose that |h(z)| = 1 for $z \in Y$. Since

$$(2.1) 1 = |h(z)| = |(f(z) + g(z))|/2 \le (|f(z)| + |g(z)|)/2 \le 1$$

and $||f||_{\infty} = ||g||_{\infty} = 1$, we infer that |g(z)| = 1. Hence $z \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$. Since $f^{-1}(1) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$ we infer that f(z) = 1. By (2.1) we get g(z) = 1. Therefore h(z) = 1. Thus $\operatorname{Ran}_{\pi}(h) = \{1\}$.

To prove (ii) implies (iii), assume (ii). Let $y \in Y \setminus \{x_0\}$. There is an open neighborhood U_y of x_0 such that $y \notin U_y$. By (ii) there is a function $f_y \in E$ such that $f_y(x_0) = 1 = ||f_y||_{\infty}$, $|f_y| < 1$ on the closed set $Y \setminus U_y$, and $\operatorname{Ran}_{\pi}(f_y) = \{1\}$. Then $f_y^{-1}(1)$ is a peak set which contains x_0 and $y \notin f_y^{-1}(1)$. Hence $\bigcap_{y \in Y \setminus \{x_0\}} f_y^{-1}(1) = \{x_0\}$ is a weak peak set, so x_0 is a weak peak point for E.

To prove (iii) implies (i), assume (iii): there exists a family of peak sets $\{K_{\alpha}\}$ such that $\bigcap_{\alpha} K_{\alpha} = \{x_0\}$. Suppose that U is an open neighborhood of $\{x_0\}$. Then $\bigcap_{\alpha} K_{\alpha} \subset U$. By considering the one point compactification, if necessary, we infer that there is a finite number of $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ such that $\bigcap_{k=1}^n K_{\alpha_k} \subset U$. Let $f_j \in E$ be a function which peaks on K_{α_j} . Then $f = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^n f_j$ is in E and peaks on $\bigcap_{j=1}^n K_{\alpha_j}$. Hence $f(x_0) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$. Since $Y \setminus U \subset Y \setminus \bigcap_{j=1}^n K_{\alpha_j}$, we have |f| < 1 on $Y \setminus U$. \square

Note that if E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C(X,\mathbb{K})$ for a compact Hausdorff space X and $1 \in E$, which needs not to be uniformly closed, then (i) of Proposition 2.9 implies (ii) of Proposition 2.9. In fact, if $x_0 \in X$ is a strong boundary point and U is an open neighborhood and $f \in E$ satisfies $1 = f(x_0) = ||f||_{\infty}$. Then (f + 1)/2 satisfies the condition (ii). On the other hand if E is not uniformly closed nor $1 \notin E$, then (i) needs not imply (ii).

Example 2.10. Let $Y = \mathbb{T}$. For any positive integer n, let f_n be a continuous function on Y such that $f_n(z) = z$ for any $z \in Y$ with $|1 - z| \le 1/n$ and $|f_n(z)| < 1$ for any $z \in Y$ with |1 - z| > 1/n. Let E be a linear subspace generated by $\{1\} \cup \{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$. Note that E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C(Y, \mathbb{K})$ which is not uniformly closed. Then 1 is a strong boundary point for E, while 1 does not satisfy the condition (ii) of Proposition 2.9

If the corresponding space E is an algebra, we have the following.

Corollary 2.11. Let A be a closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Let $x_0 \in Y$. Then the following are equivalent.

- (i) The point x_0 is a strong boundary point for A,
- (ii) For every open neighborhood U of x_0 , and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $f \in A$ such that

$$f(x_0) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty} \text{ and } |f(x)| < \varepsilon \text{ for every } x \in Y \setminus U,$$

(iii) For every open neighborhood U of x_0 , and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $f \in A$ such that

$$f(x_0) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty} \text{ and } |f(x)| < \varepsilon \text{ for every } x \in Y \setminus U$$

and $\operatorname{Ran}_{\pi}(f) = \{1\},\$

38

(iv) The point x_0 is a weak peak point for A

Proof. By Proposition 2.8 we have that (i) and (ii) are equivalent. The rest of the proof is easily followed by Proposition 2.9 \Box

To study subspace E in $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ it is usefull to consider the addition of constant. We add constant functions in a subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$.

Definition 2.12. For a locally compact Hausdorff space Y, we denote by $Y_{\infty} = Y \cup \{\infty\}$ the one-point-compactification of Y. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. For $f \in E$ we denote by \dot{f} the unique extension of f on Y,

$$\dot{f}(y) = \begin{cases} f(y), & y \in Y \\ 0, & y = \infty. \end{cases}$$

Then \dot{f} is continuous on Y_{∞} . We denote

$$\dot{E} + \mathbb{K} = \{ F \in C(Y_{\infty}, \mathbb{K}) : F = \dot{f} + c, f \in E, c \in \mathbb{K} \}.$$

Then $\dot{E} + \mathbb{K}$ is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C(Y_{\infty}, \mathbb{K})$ which contains constants.

We may sometimes suppose that E is a closed subspace of $E + \mathbb{K}$ without a confusion. It is easy to see that $\dot{E} + \mathbb{K}$ separates the points of Y_{∞} and has no common zeros provided that E separates the points of Y and it has no common zeros. By a routine exercise we have that $\dot{E} + \mathbb{K}$ is closed in $C(Y_{\infty}, \mathbb{K})$ if E is closed in $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. It is also a routine exercise to see that for $F \in \dot{E} + \mathbb{K}$, $F = \dot{f}$ for a $f \in E$ if and only if $F(\infty) = 0$.

Lemma 2.13. Suppose that E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. If $x_0 \in Y$ is a strong boundary point for E, then x_0 is a strong boundary point for $\dot{E} + \mathbb{K}$.

The converse of the above lemma does not hold in general.

Example 2.14. Let E be the same space defined in Example 2.6. Then 1 is not a strong boundary point for E. On the other hand, 1 is a strong boundary point for $\dot{E} + \mathbb{K}$.

The converse of Lemma 2.13 holds for a closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$.

Proposition 2.15. Suppose that A is a closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. A point $x_0 \in Y$ is a strong boundary point for A if and only if it is a strong boundary point for $\dot{A} + \mathbb{K}$.

Proof. Suppose that $x_0 \in Y$ is a strong boundary point for $\dot{A} + \mathbb{K}$. For any open neighborhood U of x_0 in Y, U may be considered as an open neighborhood of x_0 in Y_{∞} . Hence there exists a function $F \in \dot{A} + \mathbb{K}$ such that $F(x_0) = 1 = ||F||_{\infty}$ and |F| < 1 on $Y_{\infty} \setminus U$. We note that $\infty \notin U$. Hence we may suppose that $|F(\infty)| < 1$. Put $\pi : \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \leq 1\} \to \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \leq 1\}$ by

$$\pi(z) = \frac{1 - \overline{F(\infty)}}{1 - F(\infty)} \cdot \frac{z - F(\infty)}{1 - \overline{F(\infty)}z}, \quad z \in \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \le 1\}$$

if $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. We infer that $\pi(F(\infty)) = 0$ and $\pi(1) = 1$. As π is uniformly approximated by analytic polynomials (in fact, $\pi(rz)$ for any 0 < r < 1 is uniformly approximated by the Taylor expansion on $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \leq 1\}$, and $\pi(rz) \to \pi(z)$ uniformly on $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \leq 1\}$) and as $\dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$ is uniformly closed algebra, we have $\pi \circ F \in \dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$. If $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, then put $\pi : [-1,1] \to [-1,1]$ by

$$\pi(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{1+F(\infty)}t - \frac{F(\infty)}{1+F(\infty)}, & -1 \le t \le F(\infty) \\ \frac{1}{1-F(\infty)}t - \frac{F(\infty)}{1-F(\infty)}, & F(\infty) \le t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Then $\pi(F(\infty)) = 0$ and $\pi(1) = 1$. By the Weierstrass approximation theorem π is uniformly approximated by polynomials on [-1,1]. Hence $\pi \circ F \in \dot{A} + \mathbb{R}$. In any case we have that $\pi \circ F \in \dot{A} + \mathbb{K}$, $\pi \circ F(\infty) = 0$. Thus there exists $f \in A$ such that $F = \dot{f}$. Then we have that $||f||_{\infty} = ||F||_{\infty} = 1$ and $f(x) = \pi \circ F(x) = \pi(1) = 1$. As $|\pi(z)| < 1$ for any |z| < 1, we have $|\pi \circ F| < 1$ on $Y_{\infty} \setminus U$. Therefore |f| < 1 on $Y \setminus U$. It follows that x_0 is a strong boundary point for A.

The converse statement is just Lemma 2.13

§ 2.3. The Choquet boundary and the Silov boundary

The Choquet boundary was first mentioned by that name in a paper of Bishop and de Leeuw [7, p.306]. Definitions of Choquet boundary differ from case to case, although they are equivalent in the possible situation where the definitions can be applied. A

definition of the Choquet boundary for K-linear subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$, for a compact Hausdorff space X, which contains constant functions is described by Phelps in [37, Section 6]. Let E be a K-linear subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$. Suppose that $1 \in E$. The state space of E is $K(E) = \{ \phi \in E^* : \phi(1) = 1 = ||\phi|| \}$ (cf. [37, p.27]). The Choquet boundary in [37] is defined as the set of all $x \in Y$ such that the point evaluation τ_x is in ext(K(E)), the set of all extreme points of the state space. Since it is easy to see that $\mathbb{T}\operatorname{ext}(K(E)) = \operatorname{ext}(\operatorname{Ball}(E^*)),$ the two definitions of the Choquet boundary (Definition 2.16 and Definition in [37, p.29]) are equivalent provided that Y is compact and $1 \in E$. In section 8 of [37] Phelps describs an equivalent form of the Choquet boundary for a uniform algebra in terms of strong boundary points by referring a theorem of Bishop and de Leeuw. Browder [12, Section 2-2] exhibits a definition of the Choquet boundary for a uniform algebra in terms of mesures, which is also equivalent to that exhibited in Definition 2.16 in the case of a uniform algebra. Rao and Roy [43, p.176] defines the Choquet boundary for a uniformly closed complex linear subspace of $C(X,\mathbb{C})$ which separates the points of a compact Hausdorff space X, in a similar way as our Definition 2.16.

We are aware of the fact that some results in this subsection are a part of folklore, but for the sake of a self-contained exposition we have included as many proofs as possible of all the results stated.

2.3.1. Definition of the Choquet boundary.

We recall the notion of the *Choquet boundary* for a \mathbb{K} -subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ from [24, Definition 2.3.7], which was stated by Novinger [36, p.274]. See also [44].

For a K-linear subspace E of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ and $x \in Y$, τ_x denotes the point evaluation at x, that is, $\tau_x : E \to \mathbb{K}$ such that $\tau_x(f) = f(x)$ for $f \in E$. If E contains constants, then $\|\tau_x\| = 1$. In general, $\tau_x \in \text{Ball}(E^*)$ and $\|\tau_x\|$ needs not be 1. For example, put

$$E = \{ f \in P(\bar{D}) : f(0) = 0 \} | (\bar{D} \setminus \{0\}),$$

where $P(\bar{D})$ is the disk algebra on the closed unit disk \bar{D} in the complex plane. Let $x \in D$, the open disk. Then $\|\tau_x\| = |x|$ by the Schwarz lemma.

We define the Choquet boundary for a K-linear subspace which needs not to be closed, not to separate the points of the underlying space, may have common zeros.

Definition 2.16. Suppose that E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. The Choquet boundary for E denoted by Ch(E) is the set of all $x \in Y$ such that the point evaluation τ_x is in $ext(Ball((E, ||\cdot||\infty)^*))$, the set of all extreme points of $Ball((E, ||\cdot||\infty)^*)$, where $(E, ||\cdot||_\infty)$ denotes the normed linear space E with the uniform norm $||\cdot||_\infty$.

Note that even if E is a Banach space with some norm other than the uniform one, we consider the space $(E, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ to define the Choquet boundary.

2.3.2. The representing measures and the Arens-Kelley theorem revisited

It is crucial for the foregoing discussion on the Choquet boundaries that measure theoretic arguments should be concerned. We begin by recalling the representing measures for bounded linear functionals. See [37].

Definition 2.17. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Suppose that $\phi \in E^*$. We say that a complex regular Borel measure m on Y is a representing measure for ϕ if

$$\phi(f) = \int f dm, \quad f \in E$$

and $||m|| = ||\phi||$, where ||m|| = |m|(Y) is the total valuation of m.

Existence of a representing measure for any $\phi \in E^*$ is as follows: let $\phi \in E^*$. By the Hahn-Banach extension theorem there is $\Phi \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*$ which extends ϕ and $\|\phi\| = \|\Phi\|$. Then by the Riesz-Kakutani theorem, there exists a complex regular Borel measure m such that $\Phi(f) = \int f dm$ for every $f \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ and $\|m\| = \|\Phi\|$. Hence m is a representing measure for ϕ . Recall that the *support* supp(m) of a complex regular Borel measure m is the set

$$\{x \in Y : |m|(G) > 0 \text{ for every open neighborhood } G \text{ of } x\},\$$

where |m| is the total valuation measure of m.

Versions of the Arens-Kelley theorem, which characterizes extreme points of the unit ball in the dual space of a subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$, have been obtained by a variety of authors. The Arens-Kelley theorem and the following corollary are well known, however for the sake of a self-contained exposition and for the convenience of the readers we include complete proofs.

For $x \in Y$ we denote the *point mass* at x by D_x : D_x is a complex regular Borel measure on Y such that $D_x(\{x\}) = 1 = ||D_x||$.

The Arens-Kelley theorem. Suppose that $\phi \in \operatorname{ext} \operatorname{Ball}(C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*)$. Then there exists a unique $x \in Y$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{T}$ such that $\phi = \lambda \tau_x$. The representing measure for ϕ is only λD_x . Conversely, $\lambda \tau_x$ is an extreme point of $\operatorname{Ball}(C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*)$ for every $x \in Y$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{T}$.

Proof. Let $\phi \in \operatorname{ext} \operatorname{Ball}(C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})^*)$ and m a representing measure for ϕ . Let $y \in \operatorname{supp}(m)$ arbitrary. Suppose that |m|(U) = 1 for every open neighborhood U of y. By the regularity of m we infer that $|m|(\{y\}) = 1 = ||m||$, hence $m = \lambda D_y$ for unimodular complex number λ .

Suppose that there exists an open neighborhood U_0 of y with $|m|(U_0) < 1$. As $y \in \text{supp}(m)$, $0 < |m|(U_0)$ holds. By the definition of |m| we have

$$|m|(U_0) = \sup\{\sum |m(G_j)| : G_j \text{ is a Borel set, } \bigcup_j G_j = U_0, G_i \cap G_j = \emptyset \text{ for } i \neq j\},$$

42 OSAMU HATORI

hence there is G_j such that $m(G_j) \neq 0$. By the (inner) regularity of m, there exists a compact subset $L \subset G_j \subset U_0$ with 0 < |m(L)|. Also there exists an open set V with $L \subset V \subset U_0$ such that $|m|(V \setminus L) < |m(L)|/2$. By the Urysohn's lemma there exists $f_0 \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{R})$ such that $0 \leq f_0 \leq 1$, $f_0 = 1$ on L, and $f_0 = 0$ on $Y \setminus V$. Then we have

$$0 < |m(L)| \le |m|(L) \le |m|(V) \le |m|(U_0) < 1.$$

Hence we also have $0 < |m|(Y \setminus V) < 1$. Put

$$\phi_1(g) = \frac{1}{|m|(V)} \int_V g dm, \quad g \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$$

and

$$\phi_2(g) = \frac{1}{|m|(Y \setminus V)} \int_{Y \setminus V} g dm, \quad g \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{K}).$$

As m is a representing measure for ϕ we have $\phi = |m|(V)\phi_1 + |m|(Y \setminus V)\phi_2$, where $|m|(V) + |m|(Y \setminus V) = ||m|| = 1$. As $\phi \in \text{ext Ball}(C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*)$ we have $\phi = \phi_1 = \phi_2$. Then

$$\phi(f_0) = \phi_2(f_0) = \frac{1}{|m|(Y \setminus V)} \int_{Y \setminus V} f_0 dm = 0$$

since $f_0 = 0$ on $Y \setminus V$. On the other hand

$$\begin{aligned} |\phi(f_0)| &= |\phi_1(f_0)| = \left| \frac{1}{|m|(V)} \int_V f_0 dm \right| \ge \frac{1}{|m|(V)} \left(|\int_L f_0 dm| - |\int_{V \setminus L} f_0 dm| \right) \\ &\ge \frac{1}{|m|(V)} \left(|m(L)| - |m|(V \setminus L) \right) > \frac{|m(L)|}{2|m|(V)} > 0, \end{aligned}$$

hence $\phi(f_0) \neq 0$, which is a cotradiction.

Suppose that m is a representing measure for $\lambda \tau_x$. Let U be an open neighborhood of x. Then by the Urysohn's lemma there exists $f \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ such that $0 \le f \le 1$ on Y, f(x) = 1, and f = 0 on $Y \setminus U$. Since

$$1 = f(x) = \tau_x(f) = |\int f dm| \le \int_U |f| d|m| \le |m|(U) \le 1,$$

we see that $\operatorname{supp}(m) \subset U$. As U can be arbitrary, we see that $\operatorname{supp}(m) = \{x\}$. Thus we infer that $m = \lambda D_x$.

Suppose conversely that $x_0 \in Y$ and $\lambda_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\phi_0 = \lambda_0 \tau_x$. Suppose that $\phi_0 = (\phi_1 + \phi_2)/2$ for $\phi_j \in \text{Ball}(C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*)$, j = 1, 2. Let μ_1 be a representing measure for ϕ_1 . We prove that $\text{supp}(\mu_1) = \{x_0\}$. Suppose not. As the support of a regular measure is not empty, there exists $y \in \text{supp}(\mu_1) \setminus \{x_0\}$. Then by the Urysohn's lemma there exists $f \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{R})$ such that $f(y) = 0 \le f \le 1 = f(x_0)$. Put $U = \{z \in Y : f(z) < 1/2\}$. Then U is an open neighborhood of y, and $0 < |\mu_1|(U) < 1$ since $y \in \text{supp}(\mu_1)$. Thus

$$|\phi_1(f)| \le \int_U |f|d|\mu_1| + \int_{Y\setminus U} |f|d|\mu_1| \le \frac{1}{2}|\mu_1|(U) + |\mu_1|(Y\setminus U) < 1.$$

It follows that

$$1 = |\phi_0(f)| \le (|\phi_1(f)| + |\phi_2(f)|)/2 < 1,$$

which is a contradiction proving that $\operatorname{supp}(\mu_1) = \{x_0\}$. We infer that $\phi_1 = \lambda_1 \tau_{x_0}$ for $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{T}$. In the same way we have that $\phi_2 = \lambda_2 \tau_{x_0}$ for $\lambda_2 \in \mathbb{T}$. Since

$$\lambda_0 = \phi_0(f) = (\phi_1(f) + \phi_2(f))/2 = (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)/2$$

and $|\lambda_j| = 1$ for j = 0, 1, 2 we infer that $\lambda_0 = \lambda_1 = \lambda_2$. Thus $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = \phi_0$. We concluded that $\phi_0 \in \text{ext Ball}(C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*)$.

Corollary 2.18. Suppose that E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Suppose that $\phi \in \text{ext Ball}(E^*)$. Then there exist $y \in Y$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{T}$ such that $\phi = \lambda \tau_y$.

Proof. Put

$$S = \{ \varphi \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^* : \varphi \text{ is a Hahn-Banach extension of } \phi \}.$$

Then S is a non-empty weak*-closed convex subset of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Then the Krein-Milman theorem asserts that there exists a $\Phi \in \text{ext}(S)$. Then Φ is an extreme point of $\text{Ball}(C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*)$. In fact, suppose that $\Phi = (\Phi_1 + \Phi_2)/2$ for $\Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in \text{Ball}(C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*)$. Then $\phi = \Phi|E = (\Phi_1|E + \Phi_2|E)/2$, and $\Phi_j|E \in \text{Ball}(E^*)$ for j = 1, 2. As ϕ is an extreme point of $\text{Ball}(E^*)$, we have $\Phi_1|E = \Phi_2|E = \phi$. Since

$$1 = \|\phi\| = \|\Phi_i|E\| < \|\Phi_i\| = 1,$$

we have $\|\Phi_j\| = 1$ for j = 1, 2. Hence $\Phi_j \in S$ for j = 1, 2. As Φ is an extreme point in S, we have $\Phi = \Phi_1 = \Phi_2$. Thus $\Phi \in \text{ext}(C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})^*)$. By the Arens-Kelley theorem there exists $y \in Y$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{T}$ such that $\Phi = \lambda D_y$. Thus we see that $\phi = \Phi | E = \lambda D_y$.

Note that $\lambda \tau_x$ needs not to be an extreme point of $\operatorname{Ball}(E^*)$ in general. In fact, $\tau_0 \notin \operatorname{ext} \operatorname{Ball}(P(\bar{D})^*)$ for the disk algebra on the closed unit disk \bar{D} in the complex plane.

2.3.3. Relationship among three properties about a point x: (i) being a strong boundary point; (ii) being in the Choquet boundary; (iii) the representing measure for the point evaluation at x is unique.

Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$ and $x \in Y$. We study the relationship of the following (i), (ii) and (iii):

- (i) x is a strong boundary point for E,
- (ii) $x \in Ch(E)$,

(iii) the representing measure for τ_x is only D_x .

We recall the definition of the boundary.

Definition 2.19. Suppose that E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. A subset L of Y is said to be a boundary if for each $f \in E$ there exists a point $x \in L$ such that $|f(x)| = ||f||_{\infty}$.

The following may be well known, for example, [37, Proposition 6.3] states about the case where E contains 1 and Y is compact. However for the sake of a self-contained exposition and for the convenience of the readers we include many proofs as possible.

Proposition 2.20. Suppose that E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Then the Choquet boundary Ch(E) is a boundary.

Proof. Let $f \in E$. We may assume that $||f||_{\infty} = 1$. Then there exists $y \in Y$ such that |f(y)| = 1. Put $L = \{\phi \in \text{Ball}(E^*) : \phi(f) = f(y)\}$. As $\tau_y \in L$, L is non-empty weak*-closed convex subset of $\text{Ball}(E^*)$. The Krein-Milman theorem asserts that there exists $\phi_0 \in \text{ext } L$. Then ϕ_0 is an extreme point of $\text{Ball}(E^*)$. In fact, suppose that $\phi_0 = (\phi_1 + \phi_2)/2$ for $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in \text{Ball}(E^*)$. Then by

$$1 = |f(y)| = |\phi_1(f) + \phi_2(f)|/2 \le (|\phi_1(f)| + |\phi_2(f)|)/2 \le 1$$

we have $\phi_1(f) = \phi_2(f)$. By $\phi_0 = (\phi_1 + \phi_2)/2$ we infer that $f(y) = \phi_0(f) = \phi_1(f) = \phi_2(f)$. Thus $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in L$. As $\phi_0 \in \text{ext } L$ we have $\phi_0 = \phi_1 = \phi_2$. Thus $\phi_0 \in \text{ext Ball}(E^*)$. By Corollary 2.18 there exists $x \in Y$ and a unimodular complex number λ such that $\phi_0 = \lambda \tau_x$ on E. Note that $x \in \text{Ch}(E)$ since $\bar{\lambda}\phi_0 = \tau_x$ is an extreme point of $\text{Ball}(E^*)$ for λ is a unimodular complex number. We have

$$|f(x)| = |\lambda \tau_x(f)| = |\phi_0(f)| = |f(y)| = ||f||.$$

Proposition 2.21. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. Suppose that $x \in Y$ is a strong boundary point for E. Then the representing measure for τ_x is only D_x

Proof. Suppose that $x \in Y$ is a strong boundary point for E and m is its representing measure. Let U be an open neighborhood of x. Since x is a strong boundary point, there is a function $f \in E$ with $f(x) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$ and |f| < 1 on $Y \setminus U$. Thus $1 = |\tau_x(f)| \le ||\tau_x|| \le 1$, so we have $1 = ||\tau_x|| = ||m||$.

We prove supp $(m) = \{x\}$. Suppose contrarily that there exists $y \in \text{supp}(m) \setminus \{x\}$. Then there exists an open neighborhood V of y and an open neighborhood W of x such

that $W \cap V = \emptyset$. There exists $g \in E$ such that $g(x) = 1 = ||g||_{\infty}, |g| < 1$ on $Y \setminus W$. Since $Y \setminus W$ is closed set, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $|g| \le 1 - \delta$ on $Y \setminus W$. As $W \cap V = \emptyset$ we have $|g| \le 1 - \delta$ on V. Since $y \in \text{supp}(m)$ we have |m|(V) > 0. Since $\tau_x(g) = \int g dm$, we have

$$1 = |\tau_x(g)| \le \int_V |g|d|m| + \int_{Y \setminus V} |g|d|m| \le (1 - \delta)|m|(V) + |m|(Y \setminus V) < 1,$$

which is a contradiction proving that $\operatorname{supp}(m) \setminus \{x\} = \emptyset$. As m is a regular measure, $\operatorname{supp}(m)$ is not empty, so $\operatorname{supp}(m) = \{x\}$. Thus $m = \lambda D_x$ for some unimodular complex number λ . As

$$1 = g(x) = \tau_x(g) = \int g dm = \int g d(\lambda D_x) = \lambda g(x),$$

we have that $\lambda = 1$ and $m = D_x$

Proposition 2.22. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Let $x \in Y$. Suppose that the representing measure for τ_x is only D_x . Then $x \in Ch(E)$.

Proof. Suppose that $x \in Y$ and the representing measure for τ_x is only D_x . Let $\tau_x = (\phi_1 + \phi_2)/2$ for $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in \text{Ball}(E^*)$. Suppose that m_j is a representing measurer for ϕ_j for j = 1, 2. Then $(m_1 + m_2)/2$ is a representing measure for τ_x . Thus

$$|\tau_x(f)| = \left| \int f d(m_1 + m_2)/2 \right| \le ||f||_{\infty} ||(m_1 + m_2)/2||$$

for every $f \in E$. Thus

$$1 = \|\tau_x\| \le \|(m_1 + m_2)/2\| \le (\|m_1\| + \{m_2\|)/2 = 1.$$

Hence $||(m_1 + m_2)/2|| = ||\tau_x||$, so $(m_1 + m_2)/2$ is the representing measure for τ_x . Thus $D_x = (m_1 + m_2)/2$ and

$$1 = D_x(\{x\}) = (m_1(\{x\}) + m_2(\{x\}))/2.$$

As $|m_j(\{x\})| \le 1$ for j = 1, 2, we have that $m_j(\{x\}) = 1$ for j = 1, 2. As $||m_j|| = 1$ for j = 1, 2 we infer that $m_1 = m_2 = D_x$ and $\tau_x = \phi_1 = \phi_2$. We conclude that $\tau_x \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(E^*))$, so $x \in \text{Ch}(E)$.

The following corollary is straightforward from Propositions 2.21, 2.22.

Corollary 2.23. Suppose that E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Suppose that $x \in Y$ is a strong boundary point. Then $x \in Ch(E)$.

46 OSAMU HATORI

The converse of Proposition 2.22 does not hold in general. Let $P(\bar{D})$ be the disk algebra on the closed unit disk \bar{D} . Let

$$E = \{ f \in P(\bar{D}) : f(i) = if(1) \}.$$

Then E is a uniformly closed \mathbb{C} -linear subspace of $C(\bar{D},\mathbb{C})$ which separates the points of \bar{D} and has no common zeros. In fact $f(z) = z \in E$ separates the points in \bar{D} and $f(y) = y \neq 0$ for $y \in \bar{D}$ with $y \neq 0$. Put g(z) = (z - 1)(z - i). Then $g \in E$ and $g(0) = i \neq 0$. Thus E has no common zeros on \bar{D} . Furthermore we have the following.

Proposition 2.24. Let $E = \{ f \in P(\bar{D}) : f(i) = if(1) \}$. Then $1 \in Ch(E)$, and D_1 , the point mass at the point $1 \in \bar{D}$, and $-iD_i$ are representing measures for τ_1 .

Proof. Suppose that $\tau_1 = (p+q)/2$ for some $p, q \in \text{Ball}(E^*)$. As $\tau_1(z) = 1$, we infer that $\|\tau_1\| = 1$. Since $1 = \tau_1(z) = (p(z) + q(z))/2$ and $|p(z)| \leq 1$, $|q(z)| \leq 1$ we infer that p(z) = q(z) = 1. Hence $\|p\| = \|q\| = 1$. Let m_p be a representing measure for p and m_q a representing measure for q. We show that $\sup(m_p) \subset \{1, i\}$. Suppose not; suppose that there exists $p \in \sup(m_p) \setminus \{1, i\}$.

Suppose that |y| < 1. As $\{1, i\}$ is a peak interpolation set for $P(\bar{D})$ (cf. [12, p.111] or [27, Lemma 4.1]), there is a function $f \in P(\bar{D})$ such that f(1) = 1, = ||f|| and f(i) = i. By the maximum absolute value principle for analytic functions, we infer that |f(y)| < 1. Hence there is a positive integer n such that $|f^{4n+1}(y)| < 1/2$. As $if^{4n+1}(1) = f^{4n+1}(i)$ we have $f^{4n+1} \in E$. Then put $h = f^{4n+1}$.

Suppose that |y| = 1. As $\{1, i, y\}$ is a peak interpolation set [12, p.111], there exists $h \in P(\bar{D})$ such that f(1) = 1 = ||f||, h(i) = i, and |h(y)| < 1/2.

Let U_y be an open neighborhood of y such that |h| < 1/2 on U_y . Since $y \in \text{supp}(m_p)$ and the measure m_p is regular, we have $0 < |m_p|(U_y)$. Then we get

$$|p(h)| \le |\int_{U_n} |h| d|m_p| + \int_{\bar{D} \setminus U_n} |h| d|m_p| \le \frac{1}{2} |m_p| (U_y) + |m_p| (\bar{D} \setminus U_y) < 1.$$

Since $|q(h)| \le 1$, we get

$$1 = |\tau_1(h)| \le (|p(h) + q(h)|)/2 < 1,$$

which is a contradiction proving that $\operatorname{supp}(m_p) \subset \{1, i\}$. Then we infer that there exists two complex numbers λ_p and μ_p with $|\lambda_p| + |\mu_p| = 1$ such that $m_p = \lambda_p D_1 + \mu_p D_i$ In the same way there exists two complex number λ_q and μ_q with $|\lambda_q| + |\mu_q| = 1$ such that $m_q = \lambda_q D_1 + \mu_q D_i$. Hence we obtain that $\frac{\lambda_p + \lambda_q}{2} D_1 + \frac{\mu_p + \mu_q}{2} D_i$ is a representing measure for $\frac{p+q}{2} = \tau_1$. Thus

$$f(1) = \frac{\lambda_p + \lambda_q}{2} f(1) + \frac{\mu_p + \mu_q}{2} f(i) = \left(\frac{\lambda_p + \lambda_q}{2} + i \frac{\mu_p + \mu_q}{2}\right) f(1)$$

for every $f \in E$. Hence

(2.2)
$$\frac{\lambda_p + \lambda_q}{2} + i \frac{\mu_p + \mu_q}{2} = \frac{\lambda_p + i\mu_p}{2} + \frac{\lambda_q + i\mu_q}{2} = 1.$$

Since

$$\left|\frac{\lambda_p + i\mu_p}{2}\right| \le \frac{|\lambda_p| + |\mu_p|}{2} = \frac{1}{2}$$

and

$$\left|\frac{\lambda_q+i\mu_q}{2}\right|\leq \frac{|\lambda_q|+|\mu_q|}{2}=\frac{1}{2},$$

we infer from (2.2) that $\lambda_p + i\mu_p = 1$. Thus

$$p(f) = \lambda_p f(1) + \mu_p f(i) = (\lambda_p + i\mu_p) f(1) = f(1) = \tau_1(f)$$

for every $f \in E$. We have that $\tau_1 = p$, so $\tau_1 \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(E^*))$. We conclude that $1 \in \text{Ch}(E)$. It is evident that D_1 and $-iD_i$ are different representing measures for τ_1 .

The strong separation condition ensures uniqueness of the representing measure for the point evaluation at a Choquet boundary point. In fact, we have

Proposition 2.25. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. Then the following is equivalent.

- (i) E strongly separates the points of Ch(E),
- (ii) for every $x \in Ch(E)$, the representing measure for τ_x is only D_x .

Proof. We prove (i) implies (ii). Suppose that $x \in \operatorname{Ch}(E)$ and m a representing measure for τ_x . Note that $\|\tau_x\| = 1$ since $\tau_x \in \operatorname{ext} \operatorname{Ball}(E^*)$. We have $\|m\| = 1$. Let $y \in \operatorname{supp}(m)$. We prove that for every open neighborhood U of y we have |m|(U) = 1. (If it were proved, then $m = \lambda D_y$ for some complex number λ of modulus 1 since m is a regular measure. Then

(2.3)
$$f(x) = \tau_x(f) = \int f dm = \int f d\lambda D_y = \lambda f(y) = \lambda \tau_y(f)$$

for every $f \in E$. Then we have $\tau_y = \bar{\lambda}\tau_x$. Since τ_x is an extreme point of Ball (E^*) , τ_y is also an extreme point of Ball (E^*) . Thus $y \in \operatorname{Ch}(E)$. By the condition (i) that E strongly separates the points of $\operatorname{Ch}(E)$, we have from (2.3) that $\lambda = 1$ and x = y. Thus $m = D_x$ follows.) Suppose not: suppose that there is an open neighborhood U_0 of y such that $|m|(U_0) \neq 1$. Then $|m|(U_0) < 1$ as ||m|| = 1. As m is regular and $y \in \operatorname{supp}(m)$, we have $0 < |m|(U_0)$. Since |m|(Y) = ||m|| = 1, $|m|(Y \setminus U_0)| > 0$. Put

$$\varphi_1(f) = \frac{1}{|m|(U_0)} \int_{U_0} f dm, \quad f \in E,$$

$$\varphi_2(f) = \frac{1}{|m|(Y \setminus U_0)} \int_{Y \setminus U_0} f dm, \quad f \in E.$$

It follows that $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \text{Ball}(E^*)$ and $\tau_x = |m|(U_0)\varphi_1 + |m|(Y \setminus U_0)\varphi_2$, where $m|(U_0) > 0$, $|m|(Y \setminus U_0) > 0$ and $|m|(U_0) + |m|(Y \setminus U_0) = 1$. As $\tau_x \in \text{ext Ball}(E^*)$, we have that $\tau_x = \varphi_1$. In the same way we have

$$\tau_x(f) = \frac{1}{|m|(V)} \int_V f dm, \quad f \in E$$

for any open neighborhood V of y with $V \subset U_0$. Since f is continuous, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists an open neighborhood V_{ε} of y such that $|f - f(y)| < \varepsilon$ on V_{ε} . Hence

$$|f(y) - f(x)| \le \frac{1}{|m|(V_{\varepsilon})} \int_{V_{\varepsilon}} |f(y) - f|d|m| \le \varepsilon.$$

Hence f(y) = f(x) for every $f \in E$, so $\tau_y = \tau_x$. As τ_x is an extreme point of $Ball(E^*)$, so is τ_y . Hence $y \in Ch(E)$. Since E strongly separates the points of Ch(E), we have that x = y. It follows that for any $y \in supp(m)$, y coincides with x, that is, $supp(m) = \{x\}$, which is a contradiction since we assume that $|m|(U_0) < 1$. We conclude that |m|(U) = 1 for any open neighborhood U of y.

We prove (ii) implies (i) by reductio ad absurdum. Suppose that E does not strongly separate the points of Ch(E): there exists a pair x and y of different points in Ch(E) such that the equation |f(x)| = |f(y)| holds for every $f \in E$. As $\tau_x \in \text{ext Ball}(E^*)$, $||\tau_x|| = 1$ holds, so there exists $f_0 \in E$ such that $f_0(x) = 1$. Then there exists a complex number λ_0 with $|\lambda_0| = 1$ such that $f_0(y) = \lambda_0 f_0(x) = \lambda_0$. For any $f \in E$ with $f(x) \neq 0$ there exists a complex number λ_f of unit modulus such that $f(y) = \lambda_f f(x)$. As $(f/f(x) + f_0)(x) = 2$, we have

$$\lambda_f + \lambda_0 = (f/f(x) + f_0)(y) = \lambda_{f/f(x) + f_0}(f/f(x) + f_0)(x) = 2\lambda_{f/f(x) + f_0}(f/f(x)) = 2\lambda_{f/f(x) + f_0$$

for every $f \in E$ with $f(x) \neq 0$. As $|\lambda_f| = |\lambda_0| = |\lambda_{f/f(x)+f_0}| = 1$ we infer that $\lambda_f = \lambda_0$. Thus $f(y) = \lambda_0 f(x)$ for every $f \in E$ with $f(x) \neq 0$. This equation also holds for $f \in E$ with f(x) = 0. We conclude that $f(y) = \lambda_0 f(x)$ for every $f \in E$. Thus $\bar{\lambda_0} D_y$ is a representing measure for τ_x . As $x \neq y$ we have at least two representing measures D_x and $\bar{\lambda_0} D_y$ for τ_x .

Corollary 2.26. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. Suppose that E strongly separates the points of Ch(E). Then $x \in Y$ is in the Choquet boundary if and only if the representing measure for τ_x is only D_x .

Proof. It is straightforward from Propositions 2.22, 2.25.

If E is a subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$ which contains constants or E is a subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ which separates the points of Y, then the Choquet boundary points are characterized by the uniqueness of the representing measures for the corresponding point evaluations.

Corollary 2.27. Supposes that X is a compact Hausdorff space and E is a K-linear subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$ which separates the points of X and contains constants. Then $x \in Y$ is in the Choquet boundary if and only if the representing measure for τ_x is only D_x .

Proof. Proposition 2.3 asserts that E strongly separates the points of X. Then by Corollary 2.26 we have the conclusion.

Corollary 2.28. Suppose that E is a subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ which separates the points of Y. Then $x \in Y$ is in the Choquet boundary if and only if the representing measure for τ_x is only D_x .

Proof. Proposition 2.3 asserts that E strongly separates the points of X. Then by Corollary 2.26 we have the conclusion.

We summarize the results to generalize a theorem of Bishop and de Leeuw on a characterization of the Choquet boundary for uniform algebras [37, p. 39], [12, Theorem 2.2.6] (cf. [42, Theorem 2.1], [43, Theorem 9]).

Theorem 2.29. Suppose that A is a closed \mathbb{K} -subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ which separates the points of Y and has no common zeros. Let $x \in Y$. The following are equivalent.

- (i) $x \in Ch(A)$,
- (i') $x \in \operatorname{Ch}(\dot{A} + \mathbb{K}),$
- (ii) x is a strong boundary point for A,
- (ii') x is a strong boundary point for $\dot{A} + \mathbb{K}$,
- (iii) the representing measure for the point evaluation τ_x on A is only D_x ,
- (iv) there exists a pair of $0 < \alpha < \beta \le 1$ such that for every open neighborhood U of x there exists a function $f \in A$ such that $||f||_{\infty} \le 1$, $|f(x)| \ge \beta$, and $|f| < \alpha$ on $Y \setminus U$,
- (v) for every pair of $0 < \alpha < \beta \le 1$ and for every open neighborhood U of x there exists a function $f \in A$ such that $||f||_{\infty} \le 1$, $|f(x)| \ge \beta$, and $|f| < \alpha$ on $Y \setminus U$.

Proof. If $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, then by the Stone-Weierstrass theorem, $A = C_0(Y, \mathbb{R})$. It follows that the conditions in (i) through (v) hold for every $x \in Y$.

Suppose that $K = \mathbb{C}$. (i) \leftrightarrow (iii) is just Corollary 2.28. (ii) \rightarrow (i) is Corollary 2.23. (ii) \leftrightarrow (ii') is Proposition 2.15.

Since $\dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$ is a uniform algebra on Y_{∞} , (i') \rightarrow (ii') follows from the Bishop-de Leeuw theorem (cf. [37, p.39], [12, Theorem 2.2.6]).

We prove (i) \to (i'). Let $x \in \operatorname{Ch}(A)$. To distinguish the point evaluations on A and $\dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$, denote the point evaluation on $\dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$ by $\dot{\tau_x} : \dot{A} + \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$. The point evaluation on A is denoted τ_x as usual. Suppose that $\dot{\tau_x} = (p+q)/2$, where $p, q \in \operatorname{Ball}((\dot{A} + \mathbb{C})^*)$. As $1 = \dot{\tau_x}(1) = (p(1) + q(1))/2$ and $|p(1)| \leq 1$, $|q(1)| \leq 1$ we infer that p(1) = q(1) = 1. Hence for each $\dot{f} + \lambda \in \dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$ we have

$$\tau_x(f) + \lambda = \dot{\tau_x}(\dot{f} + \lambda) = (p(\dot{f} + \lambda) + q(\dot{f} + \lambda))/2 = (p(\dot{f}) + q(\dot{f}))/2 + \lambda.$$

Define $p': A \to \mathbb{C}$ by $p'(g) = p(\dot{g})$ for $g \in A$, we have $p' \in \text{Ball}(A^*)$. In the same way q' can be defined and $q' \in \text{Ball}(A^*)$. By the above equality we have $\tau_x = (p' + q')/2$. As $\tau_x \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(A^*))$, $p' = q' = \tau_x$. It follows that $p = q = \dot{\tau_x}$, proving that $\dot{\tau_x} \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(\dot{A} + \mathbb{C})^*)$, so $x \in \text{Ch}(\dot{A} + \mathbb{C})$.

We prove (i') \rightarrow (i). Suppose that $x \in \text{Ch}(\dot{A} + \mathbb{C})$, in other wards, $\dot{\tau}_x \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(\dot{A} + \mathbb{C})^*)$. We have already proved that (i') implies (ii') and (ii') implies (ii). Hence x is a strong boundary point for A. Thus we infer that $1 = \|\tau_x\| = |\dot{\tau}_x|\dot{A}\| = 1$. Let Δ_x denote a Hahn-Banach extension on $\dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$ of $\dot{\tau}_x|\dot{A}$. We show that $\Delta_x = \dot{\tau}_x$. By the Riesz-Kakutani theorem there exists m_x of a representing measure of Δ_x on Y_∞ . Note that $\|m_x\| = \|\Delta_x\| = \|\dot{\tau}_x|\dot{A}\| = 1$ and $\Delta_x(\dot{f} + \lambda) = \int (\dot{f} + \lambda)dm_x$ for $\dot{f} + \lambda \in \dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$. Note also that $1 = \dot{\tau}_x(1) = \int 1dm_x$ ensures that m_x is a probability measure. As x is a strong boundary point for A, by Proposition 2.9 there exists a family $\{K_\alpha\}$ of peak sets for A such that $\bigcap_{\alpha} K_{\alpha} = \{x\}$. Denote $f_{\alpha} \in A$ the corresponding peaking function for K_α . By the bounded convergence theorem for the probability measure m_x we get

$$1 = \Delta_x(f_\alpha^n) = \int f_\alpha^n dm_x \to m_x(K_\alpha)$$

as $n \to \infty$ since $f_{\alpha} = 1$ on K_{α} and $|f_{\alpha}| < 1$ on $Y \setminus K_{\alpha}$. We see that $m_x(K_{\alpha}) = 1$ for every peak set K_{α} for A which contains x. Let U be an open neighborhood of x in Y. Although Y needs not be compact, by considering that U and $K'_{\alpha}s$ are subsets of compact space Y_{∞} , there exists a finite number of $K_{\alpha_1}, \ldots, K_{\alpha_n}$ such that $U \supset \bigcap_{j=1}^n K_{\alpha_j}$. Then we have $1 = m_x(\bigcap_{j=1}^n K_{\alpha_j}) \le m_x(U) \le 1$. As U is arbitrary open neighborhood of x, we get $m_x(\{x\}) = 1$ since m_x is a regular measure. Thus $m_x = D_x$. Hence $\Delta_x(\dot{f} + \lambda) = \int \dot{f} + \lambda dD_x = \dot{\tau}_x(\dot{f} + \lambda)$ for every $\dot{f} + \lambda \in \dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$. We get that $\Delta_x = \dot{\tau}_x$.

We prove that $\tau_x \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(A^*))$. Suppose that $\tau_x = (p+q)/2$ for some $p, q \in \text{Ball}(A^*)$. Let $\check{p}: \dot{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ be defined as $\check{p}(\dot{f}) = p(f), \ \dot{f} \in \dot{A}$ and $\check{q}: \dot{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ be defined as

 $\check{q}(\dot{f}) = q(f), \ \dot{f} \in \dot{A}$. Note that it is well defined since $f \mapsto \dot{f}$ is a bijection from A onto \dot{A} . Note also that

$$\left(\frac{\check{p}+\check{q}}{2}\right)(\dot{f}) = \left(\frac{p+q}{2}\right)(f) = \tau_x(f) = \dot{\tau_x}(\dot{f}), \quad f \in A,$$

so $\dot{\tau}_x|\dot{A}=(\check{p}+\check{q})/2$. Let \dot{p} and \dot{q} be Hahn-Banach extensions of \check{p} and \check{q} on $\dot{A}+\mathbb{C}$ respectively. As $(\dot{p}+\dot{q})/2$ is an extension of $(\check{p}+\check{q})/2=\dot{\tau}_x|\dot{A}$, we have

$$1 = \|(p+q)/2\| = \|(\check{p}+\check{q})/2\| \le \|(\dot{p}+\dot{q})/2\| \le (\|\dot{p}\|+\|\dot{q}\|)/2 = 1.$$

Thus $||(\dot{p}+\dot{q})/2||=1$, so $(\dot{p}+\dot{q})/2$ is a Hahn-Banach extension of $\dot{\tau}_x|\dot{A}$. By the result in the previous paragraph that a Hahn-Banach extension of $\dot{\tau}_x|\dot{A}$ is always $\dot{\tau}_x$ we have

$$\dot{\tau_x} = (\dot{p} + \dot{q})/2.$$

As $\dot{\tau}_x \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(\dot{A} + \mathbb{C}^*))$ we have $\dot{p} = \dot{q} = \dot{\tau}_x$. For every $f \in A$ we have $\dot{\tau}_x(\dot{f}) = \tau_x(f)$, $\dot{p}(\dot{f}) = \check{p}(\dot{f}) = p(f)$, and $\dot{q}(\dot{f}) = \check{q}(\dot{f}) = q(f)$ for every $f \in A$, we have $\tau_x(f) = p(f) = q(f)$ for every $f \in A$. We conclude that $p = q = \tau_x$, $\tau_x \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(A^*))$. It follows that $x \in \text{Ch}(A)$.

Suppose that iv) holds. We prove (ii'). For every open neighborhood (as a subset of Y_{∞}) U of x there exists a function $\dot{f} \in \dot{A} \subset \dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$ such that $||\dot{f}||_{\infty} \leq 1$, $|f(x)| \geq \beta$, and $|f| < \alpha$ on $Y_{\infty} \setminus U$. Then by [12, Theorem 2.3.4] we have x is a strong boundary point for $\dot{A} + \mathbb{C}$; (ii') holds.

Suppose that (ii') holds. We prove (iv). Let U be an open neighborhood of x. As we have already pointed out that (ii') is equivalent to (ii), there exists $f \in A$ such that $f(x) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$ and |f| < 1 on $Y \setminus U$. As $Y \setminus U$ is closed, there exists $\delta < 1$ such that $|f| < \delta$ on $Y \setminus U$. Put $\alpha = \delta$ and $\beta = (1 + \alpha)/2$. Then we have that $||f|| = 1 = f(x) > \beta$ and $|f| < \alpha$ on $Y \setminus U$; iv) holds.

 $(v) \rightarrow (iv)$ is trivial.

We prove (ii) \to (v). Suppose that x is a strong boundary point for A. Let α, β be any pair such that $0 < \alpha < \beta \le 1$. Let U be an arbitrary open neighborhood of x. Then there exists $f \in A$ such that f(x) = 1 = ||f|| and |f| < 1 on $Y \setminus U$. As $Y \setminus U$ is closed, there exists $\delta < 1$ such that $|f| < \delta$ on $Y \setminus U$. For a sufficiently large positive integer n the inequality $\delta^n < \alpha$ holds. Thus $f^n \in A$ satisfies $\beta \le |f^n(x)| = 1 = ||f^n||_{\infty}$ and $|f^n| < \alpha$ on $Y \setminus U$.

Even if E is a strongly separating \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$, a point $y \in Ch(\dot{E} + \mathbb{K})$ needs not be a point in Ch(E).

Example 2.30. Let E be the space defined in Example 2.6. Then $1 \notin Ch(E)$ while $1 \in Ch(\dot{E} + \mathbb{K})$. The reason is as follows. The space E is strongly separating.

52 OSAMU HATORI

Hence $t \in (0,1]$ is in Ch(E) (resp. $Ch(\dot{E} + \mathbb{K})$) if and only if the representing measure for τ_t is unique. It is trivial that D_1 and $-D_{\frac{1}{4}}$ are both representing measure for τ_1 . Thus $1 \notin Ch(E)$. On the other hand 1 is a strong boundary point for $\dot{E} + \mathbb{K}$. Thus $1 \in Ch(\dot{E} + \mathbb{K})$.

2.3.4. The Šilov boundary

According to [3, p.80] the existence of Šilov boundary for a subalgebra of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$ which separates the points of X and contains constant is given by Šilov [45]. A simple proof of the existence of the Šilov boundary for a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$ which separates the points of X and contains constants for a compact Hausdorff space is exhibited by Bear [5]. In [37, Proposition 6.4] Phelps showed that the closure of the Choquet boundary is the Šilov boundary. For further references on Šilov boundary see [3, 8, 9, 30, 43] for example.

Definition 2.31. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. We say that a closed subset K of Y is a $\check{S}ilov$ boundary for E if it is the smallest closed boundary in the sense that it is a boundary for E and $K \subset L$ for any closed boundary (a boundary for E which is a closed subset of Y) L for E.

Araujo and Font [3, Theorem 1] proved that the closure of the Choquet boundary for E is the Šilov boundary for E if E is a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ which strongly separates the points of Y. The following slightly generalizes it.

Proposition 2.32. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. If E strongly separates the points of Ch(E), then the closure $\overline{Ch(E)}$ of the Choquet boundary in Y is the Šilov boundary for E.

Proof. Let K be a closed boundary for E. Let $x \in \operatorname{Ch}(E)$. We prove that $x \in K$. As K is a boundary, the restriction E|K of E on K is uniformly closed \mathbb{K} -subspace of $C_0(K,\mathbb{K})$. The restriction map $T:E\to E|K$ by T(f)=f|K, $f\in E$ is a bijection and an isometry. We define $\dot{\tau_x}:E|K\to\mathbb{K}$ by $\dot{\tau_x}(F)=\tau_x(T^{-1}(F)), F\in E|K$. Then

$$T^* \circ \dot{\tau}_x(f) = \dot{\tau}_x(T(f)) = \tau_x(T^{-1}(T(f))) = \tau_x(f), \quad f \in E,$$

so we infer that $T^* \circ \dot{\tau_x} = \tau_x$ on E.

We prove that $\dot{\tau}_x \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(E|K)^*)$. Suppose that $\dot{\tau}_x = (p+q)/2$ for $p, q \in (E|K)^*$. Then

$$\tau_x = T^* \circ \dot{\tau_x} = \frac{T^* \circ p + T^* \circ q}{2}.$$

As $\tau_x \in \text{ext } E^*$ we have $T^* \circ p = T^* \circ q = \tau_x$. Hence $p = q = \dot{\tau_x}$ since T^* is a bijection. It follows that $\dot{\tau_x} \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(E|K)^*)$.

By Corollary 2.18 there exist $y \in K$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{T}$ such that $\dot{\tau}_x = \lambda \tau_y | (E|K)$, where $\tau_y | (E|K) : E|K \to \mathbb{K}$ by $(\tau_y | (E|K))(F) = F(y)$ for each $F \in E|K$. It is well defined since $y \in K$. We have

$$(T^* \circ (\tau_y | (E|K)))(f) = (\tau_y | (E|K))(T(f)) = (\tau_y | (E|K))(f|K) = f(y) = \tau_y(f), \quad f \in E,$$
 so

$$\tau_x(f) = (T^* \circ \dot{\tau_x})(f) = (T^* \circ (\lambda \tau_y)|(E|K))(f) = \lambda \tau_y(f), \quad f \in E.$$

Thus $\tau_x = \lambda \tau_y$ on E. It follows that D_x and λD_y are representing measures for τ_x . By Proposition 2.25 we see that a representing measure for τ_x is only D_x since we assume E strongly separates the points of $\operatorname{Ch}(E)$. We conclude that x = y and $\lambda = 1$. Thus $x \in K$, $\operatorname{Ch}(E) \subset K$, so the closure $\overline{\operatorname{Ch}(E)}$ of $\operatorname{Ch}(E)$ is a subset of K. As $\operatorname{Ch}(E)$ is a boundary for E (Proposition 2.20) so is $\overline{\operatorname{Ch}(E)}$. We conclude that $\overline{\operatorname{Ch}(E)}$ is the Šilov boundary.

It is not always the case that the Šilov boundary exists. A simple example is as follows.

Example 2.33. Let $E = \{ f \in C(\mathbb{T}, \mathbb{C}) : f(\lambda) = \lambda f(1), \lambda \in \mathbb{T} \}$. Then E is \mathbb{C} -linear subspace of $C(\mathbb{T}, \mathbb{C})$ which separates the points in \mathbb{T} . It is easy to see that $Ch(E) = \mathbb{T}$. On the other hand $\{\lambda\}$ is a closed boundary for E, for each $\lambda \in \mathbb{T}$. Thus there is no smallest closed boundary for E.

Even if the Šilov boundary exists, it needs not coincide with the closure of the Choquet boundary.

Example 2.34. Let $X = [0,1] \cup \{2\}$. Let $E = \{f \in C(X,\mathbb{K}) : f(2) = -f(1)\}$. It is evident that [0,1] is the Šilov boundary and Ch(E) = X. Note that Ch(E) separates, but does not strongly separate, 1 and 2. Note also that $-D_1$ and D_2 are representing measures for τ_2

Corollary 2.35. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ which separates the points of Y, If Y is compact and E contains constants, or E is a subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$, then the closure $\overline{Ch(E)}$ of Ch(E) in Y is the Šilov boundary.

Proof. If Y is compact and E contains constants, then E strongly separates the points of Y by Proposition 2.3. If E is a subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$, then by Proposition 2.3 asserts that E strongly separates the points of Y. Hence by Proposition 2.32 we have the conclusion.

Note that the case of $1 \in E$ is described in [37, Proposition 6.4]. Note also that if Y is compact and E is a strongly separating space, then [43, Proposition 6] described the above corollary.

The following is a well known example that shows the Choquet boundary needs not to be closed even if the Šilov boundary exists.

Example 2.36. Let $A = \{f \in P(\bar{D}) : f(0) = f(1)\}|\mathbb{T}$, where $p(\bar{D})$ is the disk algebra on the closed unit disk \bar{D} . Then A is a uniform algebra on the unit circle \mathbb{T} . Then $Ch(A) = \mathbb{T} \setminus \{1\}$ since every point $\lambda \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \{1\}$ is a peak point with the peaking function $(z + \lambda)/2$ while 1 is not a peak point by the maximum absolute value principle for analytic functions. Note that the Šilov boundary is \mathbb{T} .

§ 3. C-rich spaces, lush spaces and extremely C-regular spaces

\S 3.1. C-richness, lushness, the numerical index and the Mazur-Ulam property.

A C-rich subspace was introduced by Boyko, Kadets, Martín and Werner [11].

Definition 3.1 ([11]). A closed \mathbb{K} -linear subspace E of $C(X,\mathbb{K})$, $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ or \mathbb{R} , is called C-rich if for every nonempty open subset U of X and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a positive function h_{ε} of norm 1 with support inside U such that the distance from h_{ε} to E is less than ε .

Suppose that X is a compact Hausdorff space without isolated points. Suppose also that $p_1, \ldots, p_n \in C(X, \mathbb{K})^*$. Then $E = \bigcap_{j=1}^n p_j^{-1}(0)$ is a C-rich subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$ [11, Proposition 2.5]. Furthermore, if X is perfect, then every subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{K})$ of codimension finite is C-rich since in this case C-richness is equivalent to richness [29, Proposition 1.2]. Another example is a uniform algebra. Recall that a uniform algebra A on a compact Hausdorff space X if A is a closed subalgebra of $C(X, \mathbb{C})$ which contains constants and separates the points of X.

Proposition 3.2. Let A be a uniform algebra on a compact Hausdorff space X and S the Šilov boundary. Then $A|S = \{f \in C(S,\mathbb{C}) : F = f \text{ on } S \text{ for some } F \in A\}$ is a C-rich \mathbb{C} -subspace of $C(S,\mathbb{C})$.

Proof. Let U be an open subset of S and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ arbitrary. We may suppose that U is a proper subset of S. Let $0 < \varepsilon < \min\{1/2, \varepsilon_0/(\sqrt{5}+1)\}$. It is known that the Choquet boundary $\operatorname{Ch}(A)$ for A is dense in S and each point $x \in \operatorname{Ch}(A)$ is a strong boundary point [12] (cf. Theorem 2.29 and Corollary 2.35). Hence there exist $p \in U \cap \operatorname{Ch}(A)$ and $f \in A|S$ such that $f(p) = 1 = \|f\|_{\infty}$ and |f| < 1 on $S \setminus U$. Since A is closed under the multiplication, we may suppose that |f| < 1/2 on $S \setminus U$. Put

$$\Delta = \{ z \in \bar{D} : \operatorname{Re} z \ge 0, \mid \operatorname{Im} z \mid \le \varepsilon \}.$$

Then by the well known Carathéodory theorem (cf. [41]) there is a homeomorphism $\pi_{\varepsilon}: \bar{D} \to \Delta$ such that π_{ε} is analytic from D onto the interior of Δ . We may assume that $\pi_{\varepsilon}(1) = 1$ and $\pi_{\varepsilon}(\{z \in \bar{D}: |z| < 1/2\}) \subset \{z \in \Delta: \operatorname{Re} z < \varepsilon\}$. As π_{ε} is uniformly approximated by analytic polynomials on \bar{D} , we have $g = \pi_{\varepsilon} \circ f \in A|S$. Note that $0 \leq \operatorname{Re} g \leq 1$ on S. By Urysohn's lemma there exists a continuous function $h: S \to [0,1]$ such that

$$h(y) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \operatorname{Re} g(y) \leq \varepsilon, \\ 1, & \text{if } \operatorname{Re} g(y) \geq 2\varepsilon. \end{cases}$$

If $y \in S \setminus U$, then |f(y)| < 1/2, so $\operatorname{Re} g(y) = \operatorname{Re}(\pi_{\varepsilon} \circ f)(y) < \varepsilon$. Thus hg = 0 on $S \setminus U$. As $g(p) = \pi_{\varepsilon} \circ f(p) = 1$ we have that hg(p) = 1. As $||g||_{\infty} = g(p) = 1 = h(p) = ||h||_{\infty}$ we have $||hg||_{\infty} = 1$. We show that $||hg - g|| \le \sqrt{5}\varepsilon$. Let $y \in S$. If $\operatorname{Re} g(y) \ge 2\varepsilon$, then h(y) = 1. Hence (hg - g)(y) = 0. Suppose that $\operatorname{Re} g(y) \le 2\varepsilon$. As $0 \le h(y) \le 1$, $|h(y) - 1| \le 1$. As $g(y) \in \Delta$ and $\operatorname{Re} g(y) \le 2\varepsilon$ we infer that $|g(y)| \le \sqrt{5}\varepsilon$. Hence

$$|(hg - g)(y)| = |g(y)||h(y) - 1| \le \sqrt{5}\varepsilon.$$

As Re $g \ge 0$ on X, we have $0 \le h \operatorname{Re} g \le 1$. Put $h_0 = h \operatorname{Re} g$. Then h_0 is a positive function of norm 1 since $h_0(p) = 1$. As h = 0 on $S \setminus U$, we have $h_0 = 0$ on $S \setminus U$. Thus the support of h_0 is inside of U. We have

$$||h_0 - g||_{\infty} \le ||hg - g||_{\infty} + ||h||_{\infty} ||\operatorname{Re} g - g||_{\infty} \le \sqrt{5\varepsilon} + \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0.$$

Thus
$$d(h_0, A|S) < \varepsilon_0$$

In the rest of the section \overline{B} for a subset $B \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ denotes the uniform closure of B. In the same way as the proof of Proposition 3.2 we see the following.

Proposition 3.3. Suppose that A is a uniform algebra on a compact Hausdorff space X and S its Šilov boundary. Then $\overline{\text{Re }A|S}$ is a C-rich \mathbb{R} -subspace of $C(X,\mathbb{R})$.

Proof. Let U be an open subset U of S and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ arbitrary. In fact, a given U and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$, h_0 and $g \in A$ are the same functions as in the proof of Proposition 3.2 we have $||h_0 - \operatorname{Re} g||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon_0$.

A lush space was introduced by Boyko, Kadets, Martín and Werner [11].

Definition 3.4. Let B be a \mathbb{K} -Banach space. Let $\delta > 0$ and $p \in S(B^*)$. The slice denoted by $SL(\text{Ball}(B), p, \delta)$ is

$${a \in \operatorname{Ball}(B) : \operatorname{Re} p(a) > 1 - \delta}.$$

56 OSAMU HATORI

B is said to be \mathbb{K} -lush if for every $a, b \in S(B)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $q \in S(B^*)$ such that $b \in SL(\text{Ball}(B), q, \varepsilon)$ and

$$d(a, \operatorname{co}(\mathbb{T}SL(\operatorname{Ball}(B), q, \varepsilon))) < \varepsilon.$$

where $co(\cdot)$ stands the convex hull.

Boyko, Kadets, Martín and Werner [11, Theorem 2.4] proved that a C-rich \mathbb{K} -subspace of $C(X,\mathbb{K})$ for a compact Hausdorff space X is \mathbb{K} -lush. Tan, Huang and Liu introduced a local-Gl-space in [50], which is a real Banach space. They proved that \mathbb{R} -lush space is a local-GL-space [50, Example 3.6] and every local-GL-space has the Mazur-Ulam property. Let us briefly recall that a real Banach space B is GL-space if for every $a \in S(B)$ and every $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ there exists a $p \in S(B^*)$ such that

$$d(b, SL(Ball(B), p, \varepsilon)) + d(-b, SL(Ball(B), p, \varepsilon)) < 2 + \varepsilon$$

for all $b \in S(B)$. A real Banach space B is said to be a local GL-space if for every separable subspace E of B, there exists a GL-subspace E' such that $E \subset E' \subset B$.

Corollary 3.5. Every uniform algebra is \mathbb{C} -lush. The uniform closure of the real part of a uniform algebra is \mathbb{R} -lush and consequently it has the Mazur-Ulam property.

Before proving Corollary 3.5 we show two lemmas to prove it.

Lemma 3.6. Let A be a uniform algebra on a compact Hausdorff space X and S a boundary for A. Then

$$\|\operatorname{Re} f\|_{\infty(X)} = \|\operatorname{Re} f\|_{\infty(S)}$$

for every $f \in A$.

Proof. Suppose that $\|\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(X)} \neq |\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(S)}$ for some $f_0 \in A$, whence we have $\|\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(X)} > |\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(S)}$. There exists $y_0 \in X$ such that $|\operatorname{Re} f_0(y_0)| = \|\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(X)}$. We may assume $\operatorname{Re} f_0(y_0) > 0$. (If $\operatorname{Re} f_0(y_0) < 0$, then replace f_0 by $-f_0$.) Hence

$$\operatorname{Re} f_0(y_0) > \|\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(S)},$$

and

$$\|\operatorname{exp}\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(X)} \ge \operatorname{exp}\operatorname{Re} f_0(y_0) > \operatorname{exp} \|\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(S)} \ge \|\operatorname{exp}\operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(S)}.$$

As $|\exp f_0(y)| = \exp \operatorname{Re} f_0(y)$ for every $y \in X$, we have $\|\exp f_0\|_{\infty(X)} = \|\exp \operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(X)}$ and $\|\exp f_0\|_{\infty(S)} = \|\exp \operatorname{Re} f_0\|_{\infty(S)}$. Hence we get

$$\|\exp f_0\|_{\infty(X)} > \|\exp f_0\|_{\infty(S)},$$

which is against that S is a boundary and $\exp f_0 \in A$. Thus we have that $\|\operatorname{Re} f\|_{\infty(X)} = \|\operatorname{Re} f\|_{\infty(S)}$ for every $f \in A$.

Lemma 3.7. Let A be a uniform algebra on a compact Hausdorff space X and S a boundary for A. Then we have $\overline{\text{Re }A|S} = \overline{\text{Re }A}|S$.

Proof. Since the inclusion $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A|S} \supset \overline{\operatorname{Re} A}|S$ is obvious, we need to prove the reverse inclusion. Let $u \in \overline{\operatorname{Re} A|S}$ arbitrary. Then there exists a sequence $\{u_n\}$ in $\operatorname{Re} A|S$ such that $\|u_n - u\|_{\infty(S)} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Then by the axion of choice there is a sequence $\{U_n\}$ in $\operatorname{Re} A$ such that $U_n|S = u_n$ for every positive integer n. Then we have by Lemma 3.6 that $\|u_n - u_m\|_{\infty(S)} = \|U_n - U_m\|_{\infty(X)}$ for every n and m. Hence $\{U_n\}$ is a Cauchy sequence since so is the sequence $\{u_n\}$. There is $U \in \overline{\operatorname{Re} A}$ such that $\|U_n - U\|_{\infty(X)} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Then

$$||u_n - U|S||_{\infty(S)} \le ||U_n - U||_{\infty(X)} \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$, so that $u = U|S \in \overline{\operatorname{Re} A}|S$. We conclude that $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A}|S \subset \overline{\operatorname{Re} A}|S$.

Proof of Corollary 3.5. Let A be a uniform algebra on X and S the Šilov boundary for A. Then by Proposition 3.2, A|S is C-rich \mathbb{C} -subspace of $C(S,\mathbb{C})$. Then by [11, Theorem 2.4] we see that A|S is \mathbb{C} -lush. Note that lushness is invariant under the isometries by definition of lushness. Therefore A is \mathbb{C} -lush since S is a closed boundary for A and the restriction map is obviously an isometry of A onto A|S by definition of a boundary.

By Proposition 3.3 $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A|S}$ is C-rich. Then [11, Theorem 2.4] ensures that $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A|S}$ is \mathbb{R} -lush. As the Šilov boundary is a boundary, we have $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A|S} = \overline{\operatorname{Re} A|S}$ by Lemma 3.7. Hence $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A|S}$ is \mathbb{R} -lush. Consider the restriction map $I: \overline{\operatorname{Re} A} \to \overline{\operatorname{Re} A|S}$. As $\|\operatorname{Re} f\|_{\infty(X)} = \|\operatorname{Re} f\|_{\infty(S)}$ for every $f \in A$, the map I is a surjective isometry. Since lushness is invariant under the isometries, we see that $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A}$ is \mathbb{R} -lush. Tan, Huang and Liu proved that \mathbb{R} -lush space is a local-GL-space [50, Example 3.6] and every local-GL-space has the Mazur-Ulam property [50, Theorem 3.8]. Hence $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A}$ has the Mazur-Ulam property.

Recall that a uniform algebra A on a compact Hausdorff space X is a Dirichlet algebra provided that $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A} = C(X, \mathbb{R})$. Several uniform algebras including the disk algebra on the unit circle is a Dirichlet algebra. Uniform algebras needs not be Dirichlet in many cases. The ball algebra and the polydisk algebra on the ball and the polydisk of dimension 2 or greater are not Dirichlet algebras even on the Šilov boundaries respectively. For further information see [12, 25, 46]. Let

$$E = \{u \in C(\bar{D}, \mathbb{R}) : u \text{ is harmonic on } D\}.$$

By solving the Dirichlet problem, any real-valued continuous function on \mathbb{T} is extended to a continuous function on \bar{D} which is harmonic on D. Hence $E|\mathbb{T} = C(\mathbb{T}, \mathbb{R})$ and E is

isometric to $E|\mathbb{T}$ since every function in E takes the maximum value and the minimum value on \mathbb{T} as it is harmonic on D. By a theorem of Fang and Wang [23, Theorem 3.2] the Banach space $C(\mathbb{T},\mathbb{R})$ has the Mazur-Ulam property, hence E has the Mazur-Ulam property. This is also proved by Corollary 3.5 as follows. Let $A(\bar{D})$ be the disk algebra on the closed unit disk \bar{D} . It is trivial that $\operatorname{Re} A(\bar{D}) \subset E$. Since the uniform limit of a sequence of harmonic functions are harmonic, we infer that E is uniformly closed. Thus we have $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A(\bar{D})} \subset E$. Conversely suppose that $U \in E$. As the restriction $A(\bar{D})|\mathbb{T}$ (the disk algebra on the unit circle) is a Dirichlet algebra on \mathbb{T} . There is a sequence $\{U_n\}$ of functions in $\operatorname{Re} A(\bar{D})$ such that $\|U_n\|\mathbb{T} - U\|\mathbb{T}\|_{\infty(\mathbb{T})} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. As U and every U_n are harmonic on the open unit disk D, we have by the maximum value principle of harmonic functions that

$$||U_n - U||_{\infty(\bar{D})} = ||U_n|\mathbb{T} - U|\mathbb{T}||_{\infty(\mathbb{T})} \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$. We have proved that $U \in \overline{\operatorname{Re} A(\overline{D})}$. It follows that $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A(\overline{D})} = E$. By Corollary 3.5 we have that E has the Mazur-Ulam property. In general we have the following.

Corollary 3.8. Suppose that $A(\Omega)$ is a uniform algebra on a compact subset Ω of the complex plane $\mathbb C$ which consists of complex-valued continuous functions on Ω which is analytic on the interior of Ω . Then every function in $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A(\Omega)}$ is harmonic on the interior of Ω . In particular, $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A(\Omega)}$ has the Mazur-Ulam property.

Proof. The uniform limit of a sequence of harmonic functions is harmonic. Hence every function in $\overline{\text{Re }A(\Omega)}$ is harmonic on the interior of Ω . By Corollary 3.5 we have the conclusion.

It seems not to be known if a \mathbb{C} -lush space has the complex Mazur-Ulam property or not. We proved that a uniform algebra has the complex Mazur-Ulam property in [26].

According to [22] the numerical index of a Banach space was introduced by Lumer in 1968. For the algebra of all bounded linear operators L(B) on a Banach space B, the numerical index is

$$n(B) = \inf\{\nu(\mathcal{A}) : \mathcal{A} \in L(B), \|\mathcal{A}\| = 1\},\$$

where $\nu(A)$ is the numerical radius given by

$$\nu(\mathcal{A}) = \sup\{|p(\mathcal{A}(a))| : a \in S(B), p \in S(B^*), p(a) = 1\}.$$

Boyko, Kadets, Martín and Werner [11, Proposition 2.2] showed that the numetrical index of a lush space is 1. Hence we see that

Corollary 3.9. Let A be a uniform algebra. Then $n(A) = n(\overline{\operatorname{Re} A}) = 1$. Let $E = \{u \in C(\overline{D}, \mathbb{R}) : u \text{ is harmonic on } D\}$. Then n(E) = 1.

Proof. By Corollary 3.5 A is \mathbb{C} -lush and $\overline{\text{Re }A}$ is \mathbb{R} -lush. By Proposition 2.2 in [11] we have the conclusion.

As we have shown (just before Corollary 3.8) that $E = \overline{\text{Re } A(\bar{D})}$, where $A(\bar{D})$ is the disk algebra on the closed unit disk. Hence we have n(E) = 1.

§ 3.2. Extremely regular spaces and extremely *C*-regular spaces.

The concept of an extremely regular space was given by Cengiz [16]. Extremely C-regular spaces were introduced by Fleming and Jamison [24, Definition 2.3.9].

Definition 3.10. A \mathbb{K} -linear subspace E of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ is said to be extremely Cregular (resp. regular) if for each x in the Choquet boundary $\operatorname{Ch}(E)$ (resp. $x \in Y$)
satisfies the condition that for each $\varepsilon > 0$ and each open neighborhood U of x, there
exists $f \in E$ such that $f(x) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$, and $|f| < \varepsilon$ on $Y \setminus U$.

We may say that a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace E of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ is extremely C-regular if every point in the Choquet boundary is a strong boundary point in the sense of Fleming and Jamison.

Suppose that m is a complex regular Borel continuous measure on Y. Then $E = \{f \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{C}) : \int f dm = 0\}$ is an extremely regular closed subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{C})$ (see [16, Theorem]).

Theorem 3.11. Suppose that E is a uniformly closed extremely C-regular \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$. The following are equivalent.

- (i) $x \in Ch(E)$,
- (ii) x is a strong boundary point for E,
- (iii) the representing measure for the point evaluation τ_x on E is only D_x ,

Proof. Since E is extremely C-regular, E strongly separates the points in Ch(E). By Corollary 2.26 we have that (i) \leftrightarrow (iii). The implication (i) \rightarrow (ii) also follows from the definition of the extremely C-regularity. Suppose that (ii) holds. Then by Corollary 2.23 (i) holds.

Abrahamsen, Nygaard and Põldvere [1] introduced a somewhat regular subspaces of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$, which is a generalization of extremely regular subspaces.

¹The definition is given in Definition 2.16

Definition 3.12 (Definition 2.1 in [1]). We call a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace E of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ somewhat regular, if for every non-empty open subset V of Y and $0 < \varepsilon$, there exists $f \in E$ such that there exists $x_0 \in V$ with $f(x_0) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$ and $|f| \le \varepsilon$ on $Y \setminus V$.

Proposition 3.13. A closed subalgebra A of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{C})$ which separates the points of Y and has no common zeros is an extremely C-regular subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{C})$. In particular, a uniform algebra on a compact Hausdorff space X is an extremely C-regular subspace of $C(X, \mathbb{C})$. If the Choquet boundary Ch(A) is closed in Y, then A|Ch(A) is an extremely regular subspace of $C_0(Ch(A), \mathbb{C})$. Let S be the Šilov boundary for A. Then A|S is a somewhat regular subspace of $C_0(S, \mathbb{C})$.

Proof. Let $x \in \operatorname{Ch}(A)$. Suppose that U is an open neighborhood of x. Letting $\beta = 1$ and $\varepsilon = \alpha$ for (v) of Theorem 2.29 we assert that there exists $g \in A$ such that $|g(x)| = 1 = ||g||_{\infty}$ and $|g| < \epsilon$ on $Y \setminus U$. Then $f = \overline{g(x)}g$ is the required function which proves that A is extremely C-regular. If $\operatorname{Ch}(A)$ is closed, then by the definition of extreme regularity, we have that $A \mid \operatorname{Ch}(A)$ is an extremely regular subspace.

Let S be a Silov boundary. We prove that A|S is somewhat regular. Let V be a non-empty subset of S and $1 > \varepsilon > 0$ arbitrary. By Corollary 2.35 there exists $x_0 \in \operatorname{Ch}(A) \cap V$. Then there exists $f \in A|S$ such that $f(x_0) = 1 = ||f_0||_{\infty}$ and $|f| \le \varepsilon$. Thus A|S is somewhat regular.

Proposition 3.14. Let A be a uniform algebra on a compact Hausdorff space X. Then the space of the real parts Re A of A is an extremely C-regular subspace of $C_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$.

Proof. We prove that $\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Re} A) = \operatorname{Ch}(A)$. Let $p \in \operatorname{Ch}(A)$. As p is a strong boundary point (see Theorem 2.29 and preceding comments), for every open neighborhood of p and $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a function $f \in A$ such that

$$f(p) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$$
 and $|f| < \varepsilon$ on $X \setminus U$

We asserts that

(3.1)

$$\operatorname{Re} f(p) = 1 \le \|\operatorname{Re} f\|_{\infty} \le \|f\|_{\infty} = 1$$
 and $|\operatorname{Re} f(x)| \le |f(x)| < \varepsilon$ for every $x \in X \setminus U$

Thus p is a strong boundary point and by Corollary 2.23 we infer that $p \in Ch(Re A)$.

Suppose conversely that $p \in X \setminus Ch(A)$. Then there is a representing measure $\mu \neq D_p$ on X for the point evaluation τ_p . Note that μ is a probability measure (cf. [12, p.81]). Then we have

$$\int \operatorname{Re} g d\mu = \operatorname{Re} \int g d\mu = \operatorname{Re} g(p)$$

for all $g \in A$. It means that μ is a representing measure for τ_p which is not D_p . By Corollary 2.27 we have that $p \in X \setminus \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Re} A)$.

By (3.1) we see that Re A is an extremely C-regular subspace of $C_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$.

Proposition 3.15. Suppose that E is an extremely C-regular subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ for a locally compact Hausdorff space Y. Then the uniformly closure \bar{E} of E is also an extremely C-regular subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$.

Proof. Every $\phi \in (E, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})^*$ is uniquely extended to $\bar{\phi} \in (\bar{E}, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})^*$ with $\|\phi\| = \|\bar{\phi}\|$. Then the map $\phi \to \bar{\phi}$ from $(E, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})^*$ onto $(\bar{E}, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})^*$ is a surjective K-linear isometry. Since $\bar{\tau}_y$ for $\tau_y \in (E, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})^*$ is $\tau_y \in (\bar{E}, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})^*$, we see that τ_y is in $\text{ext}(\text{Ball}((E, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})^*))$ if and only if τ_y is in $\text{ext}(\text{Ball}((\bar{E}, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})^*))$ for $y \in Y$. Hence $\text{Ch}(E) = \text{Ch}(\bar{E})$. The rest of the proof is clear.

Applying Propositions 3.14 and 3.15 we have

Corollary 3.16. For a uniform algebra A on a compact Hausdorff space X, the uniform closure $\overline{\operatorname{Re} A}$ of the real parts $\operatorname{Re} A$ of A is an extremely C-regular subspace of $C_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$.

§ 3.3. Some properties of closed subalgebras of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$.

In this subsection Y is an infinite locally compact Hausdorff space. Abrahamsen, Nygaard and Põldvere [1] showed that extremely regular spaces play a role in recent theory of Banach spaces by exhibiting that they involve the Daugavet property, the symmetric strong diameter 2 property and so on under some additional assumptions. We say B has the symmetric strong diameter 2 property (SSD2P) if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and every finite collection of slices S_1, \ldots, S_m , there exists $x_i \in S_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m$ and $y \in \text{Ball}(B)$ with $||y|| > 1 - \varepsilon$ and $x_i \pm y \in S_i$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, m$ [1, Definition 1.3]. Recall that a Banach space is almost square (ASQ) if for any finite number of $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in S(B)$, there exists a sequence $\{y_k\} \subset \text{Ball}(B)$ such that $||x_i \pm y_k|| \to 1$ and $||y_k|| \to 1$ as $k \to \infty$ for all $1 \le j \le n$ [1, definition 1.3]. Recall that a Banach space B has the Daugavet property if every rank-one operator A on B satisfies that ||1 + A|| = 1 + ||A|| [1, Definition 1.4]. Recall that a linear surjection $\mathcal{T}: N_1 \to N_2$ for normed linear space N_1 and N_2 is called an ε -isometry if

$$(1 - \varepsilon) \|a\| \le \|\mathcal{T}(a)\| \le (1 + \varepsilon) \|a\|$$

for every $a \in N_1$ [1]. We have

Corollary 3.17. Let A be a closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{C})$ which separates the points of Y and has no common zeros. Then we have

62 OSAMU HATORI

- (1) A has the SSD2P,
- (2) A is ASQ if the Šilov boundary is non-compact,
- (3) A has the Daugavet property if the Šilov boundary of A is perfect,
- (4) A contains an ε -isometric copy of c_0 if $0 < \varepsilon < 1$.

Proof. Put $A_0 = A|S$, where S is the Šilov boundary. Then the restriction map is a surjective isometry from A onto A_0 . The SSD2P, ASQ, the Daugavet property and to contain an ε -isometric copy of c_0 are inherited by an isometry, so it is enough to prove results for A_0 .

By Proposition 3.13 that A_0 is a somewhat regular. Then by [1, Theorems 2.2, 2.5, 2.6, 3.1] we have the conclusions.

Note that Wojtaszczyk [57, Theorem 2] proved that the Daugavet equation (DE): $||1 + \mathcal{A}|| = 1 + ||\mathcal{A}||$ holds for a weakly compact operator \mathcal{A} on a uniform algebra on X such that the strong boundary points are dense in X and X has no isolated points. As the strong boundary point coincides with the Choquet boundary points (Theorem 2.29) and they are dense in the Šilov boundary (Proposition 2.35), the hypothesis on the uniform algebra in the theorem of Wojtaszczyk can be seen that A is a uniform algebra on a perfect X, where X is the Šilov boundary for A. As A and A|S are isometric, where A is a uniform algebra and S is the Šilov boundary for A, Wojtaszczyk in fact proved that the Daugavet equation holds for a weakly compact operators on a uniform algebra of which Šilov boundary is perfect.

At the end of the section we note that C-richness implies the somewhat regularity.

Proposition 3.18. Let E be a \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. Suppose that for every nonempty open subset U of Y and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a function $h_{\varepsilon} \in C_0(Y,\mathbb{R})$ such that $0 \le h_{\varepsilon} \le 1 = ||h||_{\infty}$ with support inside U and that the $d(h_{\varepsilon}, E) < \varepsilon$. Then E is somewhat regular. We also have

- (1) E has the SSD2P,
- (2) E is ASQ if Y is non-compact,
- (3) E has the Daugavet property if Y is perfect,
- (4) E contains an ε -isometric copy of c_0 if $0 < \varepsilon < 1$.

In particular, if Y is compact (hence E is C-rich), then E is somewhat regular and (1), (3) and (4) hold.

Proof. Let U be a nonempty open subset of X and $\varepsilon > 0$ arbitrary. We prove that there exists $f \in E$ and $x_0 \in U$ such that $f(x_0) = 1 = ||f||$ and $|f| \le \varepsilon$. To prove it we may assume that $\varepsilon < 1$. Put $\varepsilon_0 = \varepsilon/(1+\varepsilon)$. Then there exists $h \in C_0(Y, \mathbb{R})$ such that $0 \le h \le 1$ on Y, h = 0 on $Y \setminus U$, $||h||_{\infty} = 1$, and the distance between h and E is less than ε_0 . Hence there exists $g \in E$ such that $||h - g||_{\infty} < \varepsilon_0$. Then $||g||_{\infty} > ||h||_{\infty} - \varepsilon_0 = 1 - \varepsilon_0$. As h = 0 on $Y \setminus U$, we infer that $|g| < \varepsilon_0$ on $Y \setminus U$. Choose $x_0 \in Y$ so that $||g||_{\infty} = |g(x_0)|$. Put $f = g/g(x_0)$. Then $f \in E$, $f(x_0) = 1 = ||f||_{\infty}$ and $|f| < \varepsilon_0/(1 - \varepsilon_0) = \varepsilon$ on $Y \setminus U$. As U and ε are arbitrary, we have that E is somewhat regular. Then by [1, Theorems 2.2, 2.6, 3.1] we have the conclusion.

§ 4. Sets of representatives

§ 4.1. Is the homogeneous extension linear?

Let B be a real or complex Banach space. Any singleton $\{a\}$ of $a \in S(B)$ is convex subset of S(B). Applying Zorn's lemma, there exists a maximal convex subset of S(B) which contains $\{a\}$. Hence S(B) is a union of all maximal convex subsets of S(B). We denote the set of all maximal convex subsets of S(B) by \mathfrak{F}_B . Suppose that the map $T: S(B_1) \to S(B_2)$ is a surjective isometry with respect to the metric induced by the norm, where B_1 and B_2 are both real Banach spaces or both complex Banach spaces. The homogeneous extension $\widetilde{T}: B_1 \to B_2$ of T is defined as

$$\widetilde{T}(a) = \begin{cases} \|a\|T\left(\frac{a}{\|a\|}\right), & 0 \neq a \in B_1\\ 0, & a = 0. \end{cases}$$

By the definition \widetilde{T} is a bijection which satisfies $\|\widetilde{T}(a)\| = \|a\|$ for every $a \in B_1$ and it is positively homogeneous. The Tingley's problem asks if \widetilde{T} is real-linear or not.

In [26] we introduced a set of representatives which plays a role in study on complex Mazur-Ulam property. For the convenience of the readers we recall it here. Suppose that $F \in \mathfrak{F}_B$ for a real or complex Banach space B. It is well known that there exists an extreme point p in the closed unit ball $Ball(B^*)$ of the dual space B^* of B such that $F = p^{-1}(1) \cap S(B)$ (cf. [52, Lemma 3.3], [27, Lemma 3.1]). Recall that $ext(Ball(B^*))$ denotes the set of all extreme points of $Ball(B^*)$. Put

$$Q = \{ q \in \text{ext}(\text{Ball}(B^*)) : q^{-1}(1) \cap S(B) \in \mathfrak{F}_B \}.$$

We define an equivalence relation \sim in Q. Recall that we write $\mathbb{T} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$ if B is a complex Banach space, where \mathbb{C} denotes the space of all complex numbers, and $\mathbb{T} = \{\pm 1\}$ if B is a real Banach space.

In Definition 4.1 through Definition 4.4 B is a real or complex Banach space.

64 OSAMU HATORI

Definition 4.1 (Definition 2.1 in [26]). Let $p_1, p_2 \in Q$. We denote $p_1 \sim p_2$ if there exists $\gamma \in \mathbb{T}$ such that $p_1^{-1}(1) \cap S(B) = (\gamma p_2)^{-1}(1) \cap S(B)$.

Note that $\gamma p \in Q$ if $\gamma \in \mathbb{T}$ and $p \in Q$. It is a routine argument to show that the binary relation \sim is an equivalence relation on Q.

Definition 4.2 (Definition 2.3 in [26]). A set of all representatives with respect to the equivalence relation \sim is simply called a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_B .

Note that a set of representatives exists due to the axiom of choice. Note also that a set of representatives P for \mathfrak{F}_B is a norming family for B in the sense that $||a|| = \sup_{p \in P} |p(a)|$ for $a \in B$. Hence it is a uniqueness set for B.

Lemma 4.3 (Lemma 2.5 in [26]). Let P be a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_B . For $F \in \mathfrak{F}_B$ there exists a unique $(p,\lambda) \in P \times \mathbb{T}$ such that $F = \{a \in S(B) : p(a) = \lambda\}$. Conversely, for $(p,\lambda) \in P \times \mathbb{T}$ we have $\{a \in S(B) : p(a) = \lambda\}$ is in \mathfrak{F}_B .

For each set of representatives P, Lemma 4.3 gives a bijective correspondence between \mathfrak{F}_B and $P \times \mathbb{T}$.

Definition 4.4 (Definition 2.6 in [26]). For $(q, \lambda) \in Q \times \mathbb{T}$, we denote $F_{q,\lambda} = \{a \in S(B) : q(a) = \lambda\}$. A map

$$I_B:\mathfrak{F}_B\to P\times\mathbb{T}$$

is defined by $I_B(F) = (p, \lambda)$ for $F = F_{p,\lambda} \in \mathfrak{F}_B$.

By Lemma 4.3 the map I_B is well defined and bijective. An important theorem of Cheng, Dong and Tanaka states that a surjective isometry between the unit spheres of Banach spaces preserves maximal convex subsets of the unit spheres. This was first exhibited by Cheng and Dong in [15, Lemma 5.1] and a complete proof was given by Tanaka [51, Lemma 3.5].

In the following $T: S(B_1) \to S(B_2)$ is a surjective isometry between both real Banach spaces or both complex Banach spaces B_1 and B_2 . We denote by P_j a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_{B_j} for j=1,2. Applying the theorem of Cheng, Dong and Tanaka, a bijection $\mathfrak{T}:\mathfrak{F}_{B_1}\to\mathfrak{F}_{B_2}$ is well defined.

Definition 4.5 (Definition 2.7 in [26]). The map $\mathfrak{T}:\mathfrak{F}_{B_1}\to\mathfrak{F}_{B_2}$ is defined by $\mathfrak{T}(F)=T(F)$ for $F\in\mathfrak{F}_{B_1}$. The map \mathfrak{T} is well defined and bijective. Put

$$\Psi = I_{B_2} \circ \mathfrak{T} \circ I_{B_1}^{-1} : P_1 \times \mathbb{T} \to P_2 \times \mathbb{T}.$$

Define two maps

$$\phi: P_1 \times \mathbb{T} \to P_2$$

and

$$\tau: P_1 \times \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$$

by

(4.1)
$$\Psi(p,\lambda) = (\phi(p,\lambda), \tau(p,\lambda)), \ (p,\lambda) \in P_1 \times \mathbb{T}.$$

If $\phi(p,\lambda) = \phi(p,\lambda')$ for every $p \in P_1$ and $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbb{T}$ we simply write $\phi(p)$ instead of $\phi(p,\lambda)$.

An equivalent form of (4.1) is as follows:

(4.2)
$$T(F_{p,\lambda}) = F_{\phi(p,\lambda),\tau(p,\lambda)}, \quad (p,\lambda) \in P_1 \times \mathbb{T}.$$

Note that

(4.3)
$$\phi(p, -\lambda) = \phi(p, \lambda), \ \tau(p, -\lambda) = -\tau(p, \lambda)$$

for every $(p, \lambda) \in P_1 \times \mathbb{T}$ (cf. [26]). The reason is as follows. First it is well known that T(-F) = -T(F) for every $F \in \mathfrak{F}_{B_1}$ (cf. [34, Proposition 2.3]). Hence

$$\begin{split} F_{\phi(p,-\lambda),\tau(p,-\lambda)} &= T(F_{p,-\lambda}) = T(-F_{p,\lambda}) \\ &= -T(F_{p,\lambda}) = -F_{\phi(p,\lambda),\tau(p,\lambda)} = F_{\phi(p,\lambda),-\tau(p,\lambda)} \end{split}$$

for every $p \in P_1$ since $F_{p,-\lambda} = -F_{p,\lambda}$ by the definition of $F_{p,\lambda}$. Since the map I_{B_2} is a bijection we have (4.3).

Rewriting (4.2) we get an essential equation in our argument.

(4.4)
$$\phi(p,\lambda)(T(a)) = \tau(p,\lambda), \quad a \in F_{p,\lambda}.$$

Looking at this equation we will prove that the homogeneous extension \widetilde{T} of T is real-linear. Before describing a precise argument in the later subsections, we exhibit a rough picture of the argument. Under the Hausdorff distance condition which will be given in Definition 4.6, we have

$$\phi(p,\lambda) = \phi(p,\lambda'), \quad p \in P_1$$

for every λ and λ' in \mathbb{T} , and

$$\tau(p,\lambda) = \tau(p,1) \times \begin{cases} \lambda, & \text{for some } p \in P_1 \\ \overline{\lambda}, & \text{for other } p\text{'s} \end{cases}$$

for $\lambda \in \mathbb{T}$. We get from (4.4), under the Hausdorff distance condition on B_1 , that

(4.5)
$$\phi(p)(T(a)) = \tau(p,1) \times \begin{cases} p(a), & \text{for some } p \in P_1 \\ \overline{p(a)}, & \text{for other } p\text{'s} \end{cases}$$

for $a \in F_{p,p(a)}$. We emphasize that (4.5) holds for $a \in S(B_1)$ with |p(a)| = 1. It is crucial to prove (4.5) for all $a \in S(B_1)$. If the equation (4.5) holds for any $a \in S(B_1)$ without the restriction that $a \in F_{p,p(a)}$, then applying the definition of \widetilde{T} we get

(4.6)
$$\phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(a)) = \tau(p,1) \times \begin{cases} p(a), & \text{for some } p \in P_1 \\ \overline{p(a)}, & \text{for other } p\text{'s} \end{cases}$$

for every $a \in B_1$, from which we infer that

$$\phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(a+rb)) = \phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(a)) + \phi(p)(r\widetilde{T}(b))$$

for every pair $a, b \in B_1$ and every real number r. By a further consideration, we will conclude that \widetilde{T} is real-linear. It means that we will arrive at the final positive solution for Tingley's problem if (4.5) holds for all $a \in S(B_1)$. We will apply the version of additive Bishop's lemma (Proposition 5.5) to prove the equation (4.5) for any $a \in S(B_1)$.

§ 4.2. The Hausdorff distance condition.

Recall that the Hausdorff distance $d_H(K, L)$ between non-empty closed subsets K and L of a metric space with metric $d(\cdot, \cdot)$ is defined by

$$d_H(K, L) = \max\{\sup_{a \in K} d(a, L), \sup_{b \in L} d(b, K)\}.$$

Definition 4.6 (Definition 3.2 in [26]). Let B be a complex Banach space and P a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_B . We say that B satisfies the Hausdorff distance condition if the equality

$$d_H(F_{p,\lambda}, F_{p',\lambda'}) = 2$$

holds for every pair (p, λ) and (p', λ') in $P \times \mathbb{T}$ such that $p \neq p'$.

By Lemma 3.1 in [26], $d_H(F_{p,\lambda}, F_{p'\lambda'}) = 2$ provided that $p \neq p'$ and $F_{p,\lambda} \cap F_{p',-\lambda'} \neq \emptyset$. We can formulate the notion of the condition of the Hausdorff distance in terms of Q.

Lemma 4.7. A complex Banach space B satisfies the Hausdorff distance condition if and only if $d_H(F_{q,\lambda}, F_{q',\lambda'}) = 2$ for every pair q and q' of Q with $q \not\sim q'$.

A proof is a routine argument and is omitted.

Lemma 4.8 (Lemma 3.4 in [26]). Let B_j be a complex Banach space for j = 1, 2 and $T: S(B_1) \to S(B_2)$ a surjective isometry. Suppose that B_1 satisfies the Hausdorff

distance condition. Let P_1 be a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_{B_1} . Then we have $\phi(p,\lambda) = \phi(p,\lambda')$ for every $p \in P_1$ and $\lambda,\lambda' \in \mathbb{T}$. Put

$$P_1^+ = \{ p \in P_1 : \tau(p, i) = i\tau(p, 1) \}$$

and

$$P_1^- = \{ p \in P_1 : \tau(p, i) = \bar{i}\tau(p, 1) \}.$$

Then P_1^+ and P_1^- are possibly empty disjoint subsets of P_1 such that $P_1^+ \cup P_1^- = P_1$. Furthermore we have

$$\tau(p,\lambda) = \lambda \tau(p,1), \quad p \in P_1^+, \lambda \in \mathbb{T}$$

and

$$\tau(p,\lambda) = \bar{\lambda}\tau(p,1), \quad p \in P_1^-, \lambda \in \mathbb{T}.$$

Proof. See the proof of [26, Lemma 3.4]

§ 4.3. The set $M_{p,\alpha}$ and the Mazur-Ulam property

We exhibit the definition of $M_{p,\alpha}$ for a real or complex Banach space. The case of a complex Banach space is in [26, Definition 4.1]. We denote $\bar{\mathbb{D}} = \{z \in \mathbb{K} : |z| \leq 1\}$, where $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ if the corresponding Banach space is a real one and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ if the corresponding Banach space is a complex one.

Definition 4.9. Let B be a real or complex Banach space and P a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_B . For $p \in P$ and $\alpha \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ we denote

$$M_{p,\alpha} = \{ a \in S(B) : d(a, F_{p,\alpha/|\alpha|}) \le 1 - |\alpha|, d(a, F_{p,-\alpha/|\alpha|}) \le 1 + |\alpha| \},$$

where we read $\alpha/|\alpha| = 1$ if $\alpha = 0$.

Lemma 4.10 (cf. Lemma 4.2 in [26]). Suppose that B_j is a real or complex Banach space for j = 1, 2, and $T : S(B_1) \to S(B_2)$ is a surjective isometry.

If B_j is a real Banach space for j = 1, 2, then we have

$$T(M_{p,\alpha}) = \tau(p,1)M_{\phi(p),\alpha}$$

for every $(p, \alpha) \in P_1 \times \mathbb{T}$.

If B_j is a complex Banach space j = 1, 2 and B_1 satisfies the Hausdorff distance condition, then we have

$$T(M_{p,\alpha}) = \begin{cases} \tau(p,1)M_{\phi(p),\alpha}, & p \in P_1^+ \\ \tau(p,1)M_{\phi(p),\overline{\alpha}}, & p \in P_1^- \end{cases}$$

for every $(p, \alpha) \in P_1 \times \mathbb{T}$. Here P_1^+ and P_1^- are defined as in Lemma 4.8.

Proof. According to the definition of the map Ψ we have

$$T(F_{p,\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) = F_{\phi(p,\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}),\tau(p,\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|})}$$

and

$$T(F_{p,-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) = F_{\phi(p,-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}),\tau(p,-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|})}$$

Suppose that B_j is a real Banach space. Then by the definition $\mathbb{T} = \{\pm 1\}$. By (4.3) we have $\phi(p,1) = \phi(p,-1)$ for every $p \in P_1$. Hence $\phi(p,\lambda)$ does not depend on the second term for a real Banach space. We also have $\tau(p,-1) = -\tau(p,1)$ for every $p \in P_1$ by (4.3). It follows that

$$T(F_{p,\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) = F_{\phi(p),\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}\tau(p,1)} = \tau(p,1)F_{\phi(p),\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}$$

and

$$T(F_{p,-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) = F_{\phi(p),-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}\tau(p,1)} = \tau(p,1)F_{\phi(p),-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}$$

As T is a surjective isometry we have

$$d(a, F_{p, \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) = d(T(a), F_{\phi(p, \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}), \tau(p, \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|})}) = d(T(a), F_{\phi(p), \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}\tau(p, 1)})$$

$$= d(T(a), \tau(p, 1)F_{\phi(p), \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) = d(\tau(p, 1)T(a), F_{\phi(p), \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}})$$

and

$$d(a, F_{p, -\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) = d(T(a), F_{\phi(p, -\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}), \tau(p, -\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|})}) = d(T(a), F_{\phi(p), -\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}\tau(p, 1)})$$
$$= d(T(a), \tau(p, 1)F_{\phi(p), -\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) = d(\tau(p, 1)T(a), F_{\phi(p), -\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}).$$

As T is a bijection we conclude that

$$\tau(p,1)T(M_{p,\alpha}) = M_{\phi(p),\alpha}$$

for every $p \in P_1$ and $\alpha \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$, so

$$T(M_{p,\alpha}) = \tau(p,1)M_{\phi(p),\alpha}$$

for every $p \in P_1$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{D}$

A proof for the case where B_j is a complex Banach space is in [26, Proof of Lemma 4.2].

4.3.1. A sufficient condition for the Mazur-Ulam property: the case of a real Banach space.

Proposition 4.11. Let B be a real Banach space and P a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_B . Suppose that

(4.7)
$$M_{p,\alpha} = \{ a \in S(B) : p(a) = \alpha \}$$

for every $p \in P$ and $-1 \le \alpha \le 1$. Then B has the Mazur-Ulam property.

Proof. Let B_2 be a real Banach space and $T: S(B_1) \to S(B_2)$ a surjective isometry. We first prove the following equation (4.8) for every $p \in P_1$ and $a \in S(B_1)$ without assuming that |p(a)| = 1;

$$\phi(p)(T(a)) = \tau(p,1)p(a)$$

for every $p \in P_1$ and $a \in S(B_1)$ with $|p(a)| \leq 1$. Let $p \in P_1$ and $a \in S(B_1)$. Put $\alpha = p(a)$. Then by (4.7) $a \in M_{p,\alpha}$. We have by Lemma 4.10 that

$$\phi(p)(T(a)) = \alpha \tau(p, 1) = \tau(p, 1)p(a).$$

It follows that for the homogeneous extension \widetilde{T} of T we have

$$\phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(c)) = \phi(p) \left(\|c\| T\left(\frac{c}{\|c\|}\right) \right) = \|c\| \tau(p,1) p\left(\frac{c}{\|c\|}\right) = \tau(p,1) p(c)$$

for every $0 \neq c \in B_1$. As the equality $\phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(0)) = \tau(p,1)p(0)$ holds, we obtain for $a, b \in B_1$ and a real number r that

$$\phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(a+rb) = \tau(p,1)p(a+rb) = \tau(p,1)p(a) + r\tau(p,1)p(b)$$

and

$$\phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(a) + r\widetilde{T}(b)) = \phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(a)) + r\phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(b)) = \tau(p, 1)p(a) + r\tau(p, 1)p(b).$$

It follows that

$$\phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(a+rb)) = \phi(p)(\widetilde{T}(a) + r\widetilde{T}(b))$$

for every $p \in P_1$, $a, b \in B_1$, and every real number r. As $\phi(P_1) = P_2$ is a norming family we see that \widetilde{T} is real-linear on B_1 . As the homogeneous extension is a norm-preserving bijection as is described in the subsection 4.1 we complete the proof.

4.3.2. A sufficient condition for the complex Mazur-Ulam property: the case of a complex Banach space.

The case of a complex Banach space is exhibited in Proposition 4.4 in [26].

Proposition 4.12 (Proposition 4.4 in [26]). Let B be a complex Banach space and P a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_B . Assume the following two conditions:

- (i) B satisfies the Hausdorff distance condition,
- (ii) $M_{p,\alpha} = \{a \in S(B) : p(a) = \alpha\}$ for every $p \in P$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{D}$.

Then B has the complex Mazur-Ulam property.

§ 5. Banach spaces which satisfy the condition (*)

Definition 5.1. Let B be a real or complex Banach space. We say that B satisfies the condition (*) whenever there exists a set of representative P for \mathfrak{F}_B with the condition : for every $p \in P$, $\varepsilon > 0$, and a closed subset F of P with respect to the relative topology induced by the weak*-topology on B^* such that $p \notin F$, there exists $a \in S(B)$ such that p(a) = 1 and $|q(a)| \le \varepsilon$ for all $q \in F$.

Example 5.2. Suppose that E is a uniformly closed C-regular \mathbb{K} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{K})$. Put $P = \{\tau_x : x \in \operatorname{Ch}(E)\}$. By Theorem 3.11 every point in $\operatorname{Ch}(E)$ is a strong boundary point. Hence $F_{p,\lambda}$ for any $(p,\lambda) \in P \times \mathbb{T}$ is a maximal convex set. Since $p \not\sim q$ for $p,q \in P$ with $p \neq q$, we have that P is a set of representatives. The condition (*) holds with P. We proved that a closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ which separates the points of Y and has no common zeros is extremely C regular. Thus such an algebra satisfies the condition (*).

Throughout the section we assume that B is a real or complex Banach space and P is a set of representatives for \mathfrak{F}_B for which the condition (*) is satisfied.

Lemma 5.3. Let $p_1, p_2 \in P$ with $p_1 \neq p_2$. Let $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in \mathbb{T}$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ and an open neighborhood U of $\{p_1, p_2\}$ with respect to the relative topology on P induced by the weak*-topology on B^* , there exists $h \in B$ such that $||h|| \leq 1 + \varepsilon$, $p_j(h) = \mu_j$ for j = 1, 2, and $|q(h)| \leq \varepsilon$ for every $q \in P \setminus U$.

Proof. We may assume that $\varepsilon \leq 1/3$. Let V_j be an open neighborhood of p_j for j=1,2 in P such that $V_1 \cup V_2 \subset U$ and $V_1 \cap V_2 = \emptyset$. Choose any positive real number δ with $0 < \frac{4\delta}{1-\delta^2} < \varepsilon$. By the condition (*) there exists $f_j \in B$ such that $p_j(f_j) = 1 = ||f_j||$ and $|q(f_j)| \leq \delta$ for every $q \in P \setminus V_j$ for j=1,2. As $V_1 \cap V_2 = \emptyset$ and $p_2 \in V_2$ we have $p_2 \in P \setminus V_1$, so $|p_2(f_1)| \leq \delta$. We also have that $|p_1(f_2)| \leq \delta$. Hence we infer that $0 < 1 - |p_1(f_2)p_2(f_1)|$. Put

$$h_1 = \frac{f_1 - p_2(f_1)f_2}{1 - p_1(f_2)p_2(f_1)}.$$

Then we infer that $p_1(h_1) = 1$ and $p_2(h_1) = 0$. By a simple calculation we have

$$||h_1|| \le \frac{||f_1|| + |p_2(f_1)|||f_2||}{1 - |p_1(f_2)||p_2(f_1)|} \le 1/(1 - \delta).$$

For $q \in P \setminus V_1$ we have

$$|q(h_1)| \le \frac{|q(f_1)| + |p_2(f_1)||q(f_2)|}{1 - |p_1(f_2)||p_2(f_1)|} \le 2\delta/(1 - \delta^2).$$

In a similar way, we have $p_2(h_2) = 1$, $p_1(h_2) = 0$, $||h_2|| \le 1/(1-\delta)$ and $|q(h_2)| \le 2\delta/(1-\delta^2)$ for every $q \in P \setminus U_2$, where

$$h_2 = \frac{f_2 - p_1(f_2)f_1}{1 - p_1(f_2)p_2(f_1)}.$$

Put $h = \mu_1 h_1 + \mu_2 h_2$. Then $p_j(h) = \mu_j$ for j = 1, 2. We prove that $||h|| \le 1 + \varepsilon$. Let $q \in V_1$. Then $q \in P \setminus V_2$. Hence

$$|q(h)| \le |q(h_1)| + |q(h_2)| \le ||h_1|| + 2\delta/(1 - \delta^2) \le 1/(1 - \delta) + 2\delta/(1 - \delta^2) < 1 + \varepsilon.$$

Let $q \in V_2$. Then we have $q \in P \setminus V_1$, and $|q(h)| < 1 + \varepsilon$ follows. For $q \in P \setminus (V_1 \cup V_2)$. We infer that

$$|q(h)| \le |q(h_1)| + |q(h_2)| \le 4\delta/(1 - \delta^2) < \varepsilon.$$

In particular, we have $|q(h)| < \varepsilon$ for every $q \in P \setminus U$ since $V_1 \cup V_2 \subset U$. Since P is a norming family we infer that $||h|| \le 1 + \varepsilon$.

Proposition 5.4. Let $p_1, p_2 \in P$ with $p_1 \neq p_2$, and $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in \mathbb{T}$. Then there exists $f \in S(B)$ such that $p_j(f) = \mu_j$ for j = 1, 2.

Proof. The idea of proof comes from the proof of the Bishop's $\frac{1}{4} - \frac{3}{4}$ criterion (cf. [12, Theorem 2.3.2]). We define inductively a sequence $\{U_n\}$ of open (with respect to the relative topology on P induced by the weak*-topology) neighborhoods of $\{p_1, p_2\}$, and a sequence $\{h_n\}$ in B as follows: let ε be as $0 < \varepsilon \le 1/3$. Let U_1 be any open neighborhood of $\{p_1, p_2\}$. Then by Lemma 5.3 there exists $h_1 \in B$ such that $\|h_1\| \le 1 + \varepsilon$, $p_l(h_1) = \mu_l$ for l = 1, 2, and $|q(h_1)| \le \varepsilon$ for every $q \in P \setminus U_1$. Having defined U_1, \dots, U_{n-1} and h_1, \dots, h_{n-1} , set

$$U_n = \{ \{ q \in U_{n-1} : |q(h_j)| < 1 + 2^{-n}\varepsilon, 1 \le j \le n - 1 \}.$$

By Lemma 5.3 there exists $h_n \in B$ such that $||h_n|| \le 1 + \varepsilon$, $p_l(h_n) = \mu_l$ for l = 1, 2, and $|q(h_n)| \le \varepsilon$ for every $q \in P \setminus U_n$. Now let

$$\mathfrak{h} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{h_n}{2^n}.$$

In fact the series converges and $\mathfrak{h} \in B$ since $||h_n|| \leq 1 + \varepsilon$ for every n. We have that

$$p_l(\mathfrak{h}) = p_l\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{h_n}{2^n}\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{p_l(h_n)}{2^n} = \mu_l$$

for l = 1, 2.

To prove $||\mathfrak{h}|| \leq 1$, it is enough to observe $|q(\mathfrak{h})| \leq 1$ for every $q \in P$ since P is a norming family. We consider three cases: i) $q \in P \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$; ii) there exists n such that $q \in U_n \setminus U_{n+1}$; iii) $q \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} U_n$. It is possible since $U_n \supset U_{n+1}$ for every n.

Suppose that i) occurs. We have $|q(h_n)| \le \varepsilon$ for every n, hence $|q(\mathfrak{h})| \le \varepsilon \le 1/3$.

Suppose that ii) occurs. If $q \in U_1 \setminus U_2$, we have $q \notin U_m$ for $m \geq 2$ since $\{U_n\}$ is decreasing. Thus $|q(h_1)| \leq ||h_1|| \leq 1 + \varepsilon$ and $|q(h_m)| \leq \varepsilon$ for every $m \geq 2$. Therefore we have that

$$|q(\mathfrak{h})| \le \frac{1+\varepsilon}{2} + \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{2^m} = 1/2 + \varepsilon < 1$$

since $\varepsilon \leq 1/3$. If $q \in U_n \setminus U_{n+1}$ for some $n \geq 2$, then $|q(h_j)| < 1 + 2^{-n}\varepsilon$ for $1 \leq j \leq n-1$. Since $q \notin U_{n+1}$ we have that $q \notin U_k$ for $k \geq n+1$. Hence $|q(h_k)| \leq \varepsilon$ for every $k \geq n+1$. Therefore we get

$$|q(\mathfrak{h})| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{|q(h_j)|}{2^j} + \frac{|q(h_n)|}{2^n} + \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \frac{|q(h_k)|}{2^k}$$

$$\leq (1 + 2^{-n}\varepsilon)(1 - 2^{-(n-1)}) + (1 + \varepsilon)2^{-n} + 2^{-n}\varepsilon \leq 1$$

since $\varepsilon \leq 1/3$.

Suppose that iii) occurs. We have $|q(h_j)| < 1 + 2^{-n}\varepsilon$ for all n > j. Hence $|q(h_j)| \le 1$ for all j, so $|q(\mathfrak{h})| \le 1$. We conclude that $|q(\mathfrak{h})| \le 1$ for every $q \in P$.

As P is a norming family we infer that $\|\mathfrak{h}\| \leq 1$. Thus $\|\mathfrak{h}\| = 1$ since $1 = |p_1(\mathfrak{h})| \leq \|\mathfrak{h}\|$.

The following proposition is a version of an additive Bishop's lemma. The proof of one we proved in [27, Lemma 5.3] requires the existence of the constants in the target algebra. Proposition 5.5 is a generalization of Lemma 5.3 in [27] which is valid for every Banach space with the condition (*).

We read $\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|} = 1$ provided that $\alpha = 0$.

Proposition 5.5. Let $p \in P$ and $f \in Ball(B)$. For every 0 < r < 1 there exist H and H' in B such that

(5.1)
$$||H + rf|| = 1, p(H + rf) = \frac{p(f)}{|p(f)|}, ||H|| \le 1 - r|p(f)|,$$

and

(5.2)
$$||H' + rf|| = 1, p(H' + rf) = -\frac{p(f)}{|p(f)|}, ||H'|| \le 1 + |p(f)|.$$

Proof. Put $\alpha = p(f)$. The proof of (5.1) is similar to that of Lemma 5.3 in [27], but a small revision is required since B needs not to be closed under the multiplication.

The proof of (5.2) is different from that of Lemma 5.3 in [27]. It requires substantial changes.

We first prove (5.1). Let ε be any real number such that $0 < \varepsilon < 1 - r|\alpha|$. Put

$$F_0 = \{ q \in P : |r\alpha - rq(f)| \ge \varepsilon/4 \}$$

and

$$F_n = \{ q \in P : \varepsilon/2^{n+2} \le |r\alpha - rq(f)| \le \varepsilon/2^{n+1} \}$$

for a positive integer n. By the condition (*), for every positive integer n there exists $u_n \in B$ such that

$$p(u_n) = 1 = ||u_n||$$

and

$$|q(u_n)| \le \min\left\{\frac{1-r}{1-r|\alpha|}, \frac{1}{2^{n+1}}\right\}$$

for every $q \in F_0 \cup F_n$. Put

$$u = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{u_n}{2^n}.$$

Then $u \in \text{Ball}(B)$ since $||u_n|| = 1$ for every n. Since $p(u) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{p(u_n)}{2^n} = 1$, we see that ||u|| = 1.

Letting $H = \left(\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|} - r\alpha\right)u$, we prove that $||H + rf|| \le 1$ in the following three cases: (i) $q \in F_0$; (ii) $q \in F_n$ for some $n \ge 1$; (iii) $q \in P \setminus \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} F_k$.

(i) Let $q \in F_0$. We have

$$|q(H+rf)| \le \left| \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|} - r\alpha \right| |q(u)| + r|q(f)| \le (1-r|\alpha|) \frac{1-r}{1-r|\alpha|} + r = 1.$$

(ii) Let $q \in F_n$ for some $n \ge 1$. In this case we have

$$|q(u)| \le \sum_{m \ne n} \frac{|q(u_m)|}{2^m} + \frac{|q(u_n)|}{2^n} \le 1 - \frac{1}{2^n} + \frac{1}{2^n 2^{n+1}}.$$

As $0 < \varepsilon < 1 - r|\alpha|$ we have

$$|q(H+rf)| \le (1-r|\alpha|)|q(u)| + r|\alpha| + |rq(f) - r\alpha|$$

$$\le (1-r|\alpha|)(1-1/2^n + 1/(2^n 2^{n+1})) + r|\alpha| + \varepsilon/2^{n+1}$$

$$< (1-r|\alpha|)(1-1/2^n + 1/(2^n 2^{n+1}) + 1/2^{n+1}) + r|\alpha| < 1$$

(iii) Let $q \in P \setminus \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} F_n$. In this case we have $q(f) = \alpha$, hence

$$|q(H + rf)| \le (1 - r|\alpha|)|q(u)| + r|\alpha| \le 1 - r|\alpha| + r|\alpha| = 1.$$

By (i), (ii) and (iii) we have $||H + rf|| \le 1$ since P is a norming family. As we will see that $p(H + rf) = \alpha/|\alpha|$, it will follow that ||H + rf|| = 1.

By simple calculations we have

$$||H|| = \left| \left| \left(\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|} - r\alpha \right) u \right| \right| = \left| \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|} - r\alpha \right| ||u|| = 1 - r|\alpha|$$

and

$$p(H+rf) = p\left(\left(\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|} - r\alpha\right)u + rf\right) = \left(\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|} - r\alpha\right)p(u) + rp(f) = \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}.$$

We have completed the proof of (5.1).

Next we prove (5.2). Suppose that $|\alpha|=1$. Put H'=-(1+r)f. Then we have $||H'||\leq 1+r\leq 1+|\alpha|$. We also have that $p(H'+rf)=-p(f)=-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}$ and $||H'+rf||=||-f||\leq 1$. Since $1=|p(H'+rf)|\leq ||H'+rf||$, we infer that ||H'+rf||=1. Thus (5.2) holds if $|\alpha|=1$. Suppose that $\alpha=0$. As $||-f||\leq 1$ and $p(-f)=0=\alpha$, we have by (5.1) that there exists $H\in B$ such that ||H-rf||=1, $p(H-rf)=\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}$ and $||H||\leq 1-r|\alpha|=1$. Letting H'=-H we have that ||H'+rf||=1, $p(H'+rf)=-1=-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}$ and $||H'||=||H||\leq 1=1+|\alpha|$. Thus (5.2) holds if $\alpha=0$.

We assume $0 < |\alpha| < 1$. To prove (5.2) we apply induction. Define a sequence $\{a_n\}$ by $a_1 = 1/3$, $a_{n+1} = (a_n + 1)/2$ for every positive integer n. Put $I_1 = (0, a_1]$ and $I_n = (a_{n-1}, a_n]$ for each positive integer $n \ge 2$. For each positive integer n, put

$$C_n = \{ g \in \text{Ball}(B) : |p(g)| \in I_n \}.$$

By induction on n we prove that for any $g \in C_n$ and 0 < s < 1, there exists $H_{g,s} \in B$ such that

(5.3)
$$||H_{g,s} + sg|| = 1, p(H_{g,s} + sg) = -\frac{p(g)}{|p(g)|}, ||H_{g,s}|| \le 1 + |p(g)|.$$

If it will be proved, then (5.3) will hold for every $g \in \text{Ball } B$ such that 0 < |p(g)| < 1 since $\lim_{n \to \infty} a_n = 1$. Combining with the results for $\alpha = 0$ or $|\alpha| = 1$, it will follows that (5.2) holds for every $f \in \text{Ball}(B)$ and 0 < r < 1.

Suppose that $g_1 \in C_1$ and $0 < s_1 < 1$. Put $\alpha_1 = p(g_1)$. Then $0 < |\alpha_1| \le a_1$. Let ε_1 be as $0 < \varepsilon_1 < 1 - \sqrt{s_1}$ and

$$K_1 = \{ q \in P : |\alpha - q(g_1)| \ge \varepsilon_1/2 \}.$$

By the condition (*) there exists $v_1 \in S(B)$ such that $p(v_1) = 1 = ||v_1||$ and $|q(v_1)| \le \varepsilon_1/2$ for every $q \in K_1$. Look at $||-2\sqrt{s_1}\alpha_1v_1 + \sqrt{s_1}g_1||$. If $q \in K_1$, then $|q(v_1)| \le \varepsilon_1/2$. Therefore

$$|q(-2\sqrt{s_1}\alpha_1v_1 + \sqrt{s_1}g_1)| \le 2\sqrt{s_1}|\alpha_1||q(v_1)| + \sqrt{s_1}|q(g_1)| \le 2\sqrt{s_1}|\alpha_1|\varepsilon_1/2 + \sqrt{s_1} < 1$$

since $|\alpha_1| \leq 1/3$. If $q \in P \setminus K_1$, then $|\alpha_1 - q(g_1)| < \varepsilon_1/2$. Thus

$$|q(-2\sqrt{s_1}\alpha_1v_1 + \sqrt{s_1}g_1)| \le \sqrt{s_1}|\alpha_1 - 2\alpha_1q(v_1)| + \sqrt{s_1}|q(g_1) - \alpha_1| \le 3\sqrt{s_1}|\alpha_1| + \sqrt{s_1}\varepsilon_1/2 < 1$$

since since $|\alpha_1| \leq 1/3$ and $\varepsilon_1 < 1 - \sqrt{s_1}$. We conclude that

$$\| -2\sqrt{s_1}\alpha_1 v_1 + \sqrt{s_1}g_1 \| \le 1$$

since P is a norming family. Put $g_1' = -2\sqrt{s_1}\alpha_1v_1 + \sqrt{s_1}g_1$ Then $p(g_1') = -\sqrt{s_1}\alpha_1$. Applying (5.1) with $\sqrt{s_1}$ and g_1' instead of r and f respectively, we find $H_+ \in B$ such that

$$||H_{+} + \sqrt{s_1}g_1'|| = 1, \quad p(H_{+} + \sqrt{s_1}g_1') = \frac{p(g_1')}{|p(g_1')|} = -\frac{\alpha_1}{|\alpha_1|}$$

and

$$||H_+|| \le 1 - \sqrt{s_1}|p(g_1')| = 1 - s_1|\alpha_1|.$$

Letting $H_{g_1,s_1} = H_+ - 2s_1\alpha_1v_1$ we infer that

$$H_{g_1,s_1} + sg_1 = H_+ - 2s_1\alpha_1v_1 + s_1g_1 = H_+ + \sqrt{s_1}(-2\sqrt{s_1}\alpha_1v_1 + \sqrt{s_1}g_1) = H_+ + \sqrt{s_1}g_1'.$$

Hence

$$||H_{g_1,s_1} + s_1 g_1|| = 1$$
, $p(H_{g_1,s_1} + s_1 g_1) = -\frac{\alpha_1}{|\alpha_1|}$.

We also have

$$||H_{q_1,s_1}|| \le ||H_+|| + 2s_1|\alpha_1|||v_1|| \le 1 - s_1|\alpha_1| + 2s_1|\alpha_1| = 1 + s_1|\alpha_1| \le 1 + |\alpha_1|.$$

We have proved that (5.3) holds for n=1

Suppose that (5.3) holds for every $1 \le n \le m$. Let $g_{m+1} \in C_{m+1}$ and $0 < s_{m+1} < 1$ arbitrary. Put $\alpha_{m+1} = p(g_{m+1})$. Put $0 < \varepsilon_{m+1} < 1 - \sqrt{s_{m+1}}$ and

$$K_{m+1} = \{ q \in P : |\alpha_{m+1} - q(g_{m+1})| \ge \varepsilon_{m+1}/2 \}.$$

By the condition (*) there exists $v_{m+1} \in B$ such that

$$p(v_{m+1}) = 1 = ||v_{m+1}||$$

and

$$|q(v_{m+1})| \le \frac{\varepsilon_{m+1}}{2(a_{m+1} - a_m)}$$

for every $q \in K_{m+1}$. Put

$$f_{m+1} = \sqrt{s_{m+1}} \left(\left(a_m \cdot \frac{\alpha_{m+1}}{|\alpha_{m+1}|} - \alpha_{m+1} \right) v_{m+1} + g_{m+1} \right).$$

Note that $\left|a_m \cdot \frac{\alpha_{m+1}}{|\alpha_{m+1}|} - \alpha_{m+1}\right| = |\alpha_{m+1}| - a_m$ since $a_m < |\alpha_{m+1}| \le a_{m+1}$. Suppose that $q \in K_{m+1}$. Then

$$|q(f_{m+1})| \le \sqrt{s_{m+1}}(|\alpha_{m+1}| - a_m)|q(v_{m+1})| + \sqrt{s_{m+1}}|q(g_{m+1})|$$

$$\le \frac{\sqrt{s_{m+1}}(|\alpha| - a_m)\varepsilon_{m+1}}{2(a_{m+1} - a_m)} + \sqrt{s_{m+1}} \le \sqrt{s_{m+1}}(\varepsilon_{m+1}/2 + 1) < 1$$

since $|\alpha_{m+1}| \leq a_{m+1}$. Suppose that $q \in P \setminus K_{m+1}$. Then

$$|q(f_{m+1})| \le \sqrt{s_{m+1}} \left(\left| a_m \cdot \frac{\alpha_{m+1}}{|\alpha_{m+1}|} - \alpha_{m+1} \right| |q(v_{m+1})| + |\alpha_{m+1}| + |q(g_{m+1}) - \alpha_{m+1}| \right)$$

$$\le \sqrt{s_{m+1}} ((|\alpha_{m+1}| - a_m) + |\alpha_{m+1}| + \varepsilon_{m+1}/2) = \sqrt{s_{m+1}} (2|\alpha_{m+1}| - a_m + \varepsilon_{m+1}/2)$$

$$\le \sqrt{s_{m+1}} (2a_{m+1} - a_m + \varepsilon_{m+1}/2) = \sqrt{s_{m+1}} (1 + \varepsilon_{m+1}/2) < 1$$

Therefore we have that $||f_{m+1}|| \le 1$ since P is a norming family. By a calculation we have $p(f_{m+1}) = \sqrt{s_{m+1}} a_m \cdot \frac{\alpha_{m+1}}{|\alpha_{m+1}|}$, hence $|p(f_{m+1})| = \sqrt{s_{m+1}} a_m < a_m$. It means that $|p(f_{m+1})| \in I_k$ for some $1 \le k \le m$. By the hypothesis of induction there exists $H_k \in B$ such that

$$||H_k + \sqrt{s_{m+1}}f_{m+1}|| = 1, \quad p(H_k + \sqrt{s_{m+1}}f_{m+1}) = -\frac{p(f_{m+1})}{|p(f_{m+1})|} = -\frac{\alpha_{m+1}}{|\alpha_{m+1}|}$$

and

$$||H_k|| \le 1 + |p(f_{m+1})| = 1 + \sqrt{s_{m+1}}a_m$$

Put

$$H_{g_{m+1},s_{m+1}} = H_k + s_{m+1} \left(a_m \cdot \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|} - \alpha \right) v_{m+1}.$$

Then $H_{g_{m+1},s_{m+1}} + s_{m+1}g_{m+1} = H_k + \sqrt{s_{m+1}}f_{m+1}$ and

$$||H_{g_{m+1},s_{m+1}} + s_{m+1}g_{m+1}|| = 1, \quad p(H_{g_{m+1},s_{m+1}} + s_{m+1}g_{m+1}) = -\frac{\alpha_{m+1}}{|\alpha_{m+1}|}.$$

We also have

$$||H_{g_{m+1},s_{m+1}}|| \le ||H_k|| + ||s_{m+1}\left(a_m \cdot \frac{\alpha_{m+1}}{|\alpha_{m+1}|} - \alpha_{m+1}\right)v_{m+1}||$$

$$\le 1 + \sqrt{s_{m+1}}a_m + s_{m+1}(|\alpha_{m+1}| - a_m) < 1 + \sqrt{s_{m+1}}a_m + \sqrt{s_{m+1}}(|\alpha_{m+1}| - a_m)$$

$$\le 1 + |\alpha_{m+1}|.$$

We conclude by induction that (5.3) holds if 0 < |p(g)| < 1.

§ 6. Banach spaces which satisfy the condition (*) and the Mazur-Ulam property

Theorem 6.1. Let B be a real Banach space which satisfies the condition (*). Then B has the Mazur-Ulam property.

Proof. Let P be a set of representative for \mathfrak{F}_B with which the condition (*) is satisfied. We prove that (4.7) of Proposition 4.11 holds. Let $p \in P$ and $-1 \le \alpha \le 1$ arbitrary. In the same way as [26, Lemma 4.3] we infer that

$$M_{p,\alpha} \subset \{a \in S(B) : p(a) = \alpha\}.$$

We prove the inverse inclusion. Suppose that $f \in S(B)$ with $p(f) = \alpha$. Let 0 < r < 1 arbitrary. By Proposition 5.5 there exists $H \in B$ such that $H + rf \in F_{p,\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}$ and $||H|| \le 1 - r|\alpha|$. Thus

$$||H + rf - f|| \le 1 - r|\alpha| + 1 - r.$$

We infer that $d(f, F_{p, \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) \leq 1 - |\alpha|$. We also have by Proposition 5.5 that there exists $H' \in B$ such that $H' + rf \in F_{p, -\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}$ and $||H'|| \leq 1 + |\alpha|$. Hence

$$||H' + rf - f|| \le 1 + |\alpha| + 1 - r.$$

We infer that $d(f, F_{p,-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) \leq 1 + |\alpha|$. Thus $f \in M_{p,\alpha}$. Hence $\{f \in S(B) : p(f) = \alpha\} \subset M_{p,\alpha}$. It follows from Proposition 4.11 that B has the Mazur-Ulam property. \square

Corollary 6.2. Let E be a uniformly closed extremely C-regular \mathbb{R} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{R})$ for a locally compact Hausdorff space Y. Then E has the Mazur-Ulam property. In particular, $C_0(Y,\mathbb{R})$ itself and a uniformly closed extremely regular subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{R})$ has the Mazur-Ulam property.

Proof. We prove that E satisfies the condition (*). Put $P = \{\tau_x : x \in \operatorname{Ch}(E)\}$. By Theorem 3.11 every point in $\operatorname{Ch}(E)$ is a strong boundary point. Hence $F_{p,\lambda}$ for any $(p,\lambda) \in P \times \{\pm 1\}$ is a maximal convex set. Since $p \not\sim q$ for $p,q \in P$ with $p \neq q$, we have that P is a set of representatives. The condition (*) holds with P. Then by Theorem 6.1 we see that E has the Mazur-Ulam property.

Theorem 6.3. Let B be a complex Banach space which satisfies the condition (*). Then B has the complex Mazur-Ulam property.

Proof. Let P be a set of representative for \mathfrak{F}_B with which the condition (*) is satisfied. We prove (i) and (ii) of Proposition 4.12. Let $F_{p,\lambda}, F_{p',\lambda'} \in \mathfrak{F}_B$ such that

 $p \neq p'$. By Proposition 5.4 there exists $f \in S(B)$ such that $p(f) = -\lambda$ and $p'(f) = \lambda'$. Then $f \in F_{p',\lambda'}$. For any $g \in F_{p,\lambda}$ we infer that

$$2 = |p(f) - p(g)| \le ||f - g|| \le 2,$$

hence $d(f, F_{p,\lambda}) = 2$. Hence $d_H(F_{p,\lambda}, F_{p',\lambda'}) = 2$. As a pair $F_{p,\lambda}$ and $F_{p',\lambda'}$ with $p \neq p'$ is arbitrary, we see that B satisfies the Hausdorff distance condition holds; (i) of Proposition 4.12 holds.

We prove (ii) of Proposition 4.12. Let $p \in P$ and $\alpha \in \overline{D}$ arbitrary. Let 0 < r < 1 be arbitrary. By Proposition 5.5 there exists $H \in B$ with $H + rf \in F_{p,\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}$ and $||H|| \le 1 - r|\alpha|$. There also exists $H' \in B$ with $H' + rf \in F_{p,-\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}$ and $||H'|| \le 1 + |\alpha|$. Hence

$$||H + rf - f|| \le 1 - r|\alpha| + 1 - r,$$

and

$$||H' + rf - f|| \le 1 + |\alpha| + 1 - r.$$

As r is arbitrary we infer that $d(f, F_{p, \frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) \leq 1 - |\alpha|$ and $d(f, F_{p, -\frac{\alpha}{|\alpha|}}) \leq 1 + |\alpha|$. It follows that $f \in M_{p,\alpha}$. Thus $\{f \in S(B) : p(f) = \alpha\} \subset M_{p,\alpha}$. The inverse inclusion

$$M_{p,\alpha} \subset \{ f \in S(B) : p(f) = \alpha \}$$

is by [26, Lemma 4.3]. We conclude that (ii) of Proposition 4.12 holds.

It follows from Proposition 4.12 that B has the complex Mazur-Ulam property. \square

Corollary 6.4. A uniformly closed extremely C-regular \mathbb{C} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ for a locally compact Hausdorff space has the complex Mazur-Ulam property. In particular, $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ itself and a uniformly closed extremely regular \mathbb{C} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ has the complex Mazur-Ulam property.

Proof. The proof that E satisfies the condition (*) is essentially the same as that for Corollary 6.2 (cf. Example 5.2). Then by Theorem 6.3 we see that E has the complex Mazur-Ulam property.

Hatori [26, Theorem 4.5] proved that a uniform algebra has the complex Mazur-Ulam property. In the proof of Theorem 4.5 in [26], it is crucial that a uniform algebra contains the constants. Cabezas, Cueto-Avellaneda, Hirota, Miura and Peralta [14, Corollary 3.2] proved that $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$ satisfies the complex Mazur-Ulam property. Cueto-Avellaneda, Hirota, Miura and Peralta [17, Theorem 2.1] have proved that each surjective isometry between the unit spheres of two uniformly closed algebras on locally compact Hausdorff spaces which separates the points without common zeros admits an extension to a surjective real linear isometry between these algebras. The following generalizes a both theorems of Cueto-Avellaneda, Hirota, Miura and Peralta [17, Theorem 2.1] and Cabezas, Cueto-Avellaneda, Hirota, Miura and Peralta [14, Corollary 3.2].

Corollary 6.5. A (non-zero) closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{C})$ has the complex Mazur-Ulam property. In particular, a uniform algebra has the complex Mazur-Ulam property.

Proof. Let A be a non-zero closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y,\mathbb{C})$. Let

$$C = \{ y \in Y : f(y) = 0 \text{ for all } f \in A \}.$$

As we assume $A \neq \{0\}$, there is a non-zero function in A, so C is a proper subset of Y. For any pair of points x and y in $Y \setminus C$, we denote $x \sim y$ if f(x) = f(y) for all $f \in A$. Then \sim is an equivalence relation on $Y \setminus C$. Let Y_0 be the quotient space induced by the relation \sim . Then Y_0 is a locally compact, possibly compact, Hausdorff space induced by the quotient topology. We may suppose that A is a closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y_0, \mathbb{C})$ which separates the points in Y_0 and has no common zeros. Then by Proposition 3.13 A is a uniformly closed extremely C-regular \mathbb{C} -linear subspace of $C_0(Y_0, \mathbb{C})$. It follows by Corollary 6.4 that A has the complex Mazur-Ulam property.

Suppose that A is a uniform algebra on a compact Hausdorff space. Then A is a closed subalgebra of $C(X,\mathbb{C})$. Then by the first part we have that A has the complex Mazur-Ulam property.

§ 7. Final remarks

In section 5 we introduced the condition (*) for Banach spaces and we proved that an extremely C-regular closed subspace of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{K})$ satisfies the condition (*) in section 6. On the other hand we have not enough examples of Banach spaces which satisfy the condition. Cabezas, Cueto-Avellaneda, Hirota, Miura and Peralta [14] proved that every commutative JB* triple satisfies the complex Mazur-Ulam property. The author does not know if a commutative JB* triple satisfies the condition (*) or not. If it would satisfy the condition (*), we would get an alternative proof of a theorem of Cabezas, Cueto-Avellaneda, Hirota, Miura and Peralta [14, Theorem 3.1]. It is interesting to exhibit enough examples of Banach spaces which satisfy the condition (*). We have proved the complex Mazur-Ulam property especially for a closed subalgebra of $C_0(Y, \mathbb{C})$ which separates the points of Y and has no common zeros, we expect it also has the Mazur-Ulam property. It is trivial that the complex Mazur-Ulam property follows the Mazur-Ulam property follow the complex Mazur-Ulam property?

Acknowledgments. The author would like to express his thanks to Professor Antonio Peralta for fruitful discussions which started on the end of 2021. It is certain that the discussions and his useful comments are the starting point of the research in this paper.

Special thanks are due to Professor Shiho Oi for organizing the RIMS workshop "Research on preserver problems on Banach algebras and related topics" and for editing RIMS Kôkyûroku Bessatsu.

The author records his sincerest appreciation to the referee for their valuable comments and advice which have improved the presentation of this paper substantially.

References

- [1] T. A. Abrahamsen, O. Nygaard and M. Põldvere, New applications of extremely regular function spaces, Pacific J. Math. **301** (2019), 385–394 doi:10.2140/pjm.2019.301.385
- [2] J. Araujo and J. J. Font, Linear isometries between subspaces of continuous functions, J. Araujo and J. J. Font, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **349** (1997), 413–428
- [3] J. Araujo and J. J. Font, On Šilov boundaries for subspaces of continuous functions, Proceedings of the First Ibero-American Conference on Topology and its Applications (Benicassim, 1995) Topology Appl. 77 (1997), 79–85 doi:10.1016/S0166-8641(96)00132-0
- [4] T. Banakh, Every 2-dimensional Banach space has the Mazur-Ulam property, Linear Algebra Appl. 632 (2022), 268–280 doi:10.1016/j.laa.2021.09.020
- [5] H. S. Bear, The Silov boundary for a linear space of continuous functions, Amer. Math. Monthly 68 (1961), 483–485
- [6] J. Becerra-Guerrero, M. Cueto-Avellaneda, F. J. Fernández-Polo and A. M. Peralta, On the extension of isometries between the unit spheres of a JBW*-triple and a Banach space, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 20 (2021), 277–303 doi:10.1007/s13324-022-00448-2
- [7] E. Bishop and K. de Leeuw, The representation of linear functionals by measures on sets of extreme points, Ann. Inst. Fourier, Grenoble 9 (1959), 305–331
- [8] D. P. Blecher, The Shilov boundary of an operator space and the characterization theorems, J. Funct. Anal. **182** (2001), 280–343 doi:10.1006/jfan.20003734
- [9] H. F. Bohnenblust and S. Karlin, Geometrical properties of the unit sphere of Banach algebras, Ann. Math., II. Ser. 62 (1955), 217–229
- [10] K. Boyko, V. Kadets, M. Martín and J. Merí, Properties of lush spaces and applications to Banach spaces with numerical index 1, Studia Math. 190 (2009), 117–133 doi:10.4064/sm190-2-2
- [11] K. Boyko, V. Kadets, M. Martín and D. Werner, Numerical index of Banach spaces and duality, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 142 (2007), 93–102 doi:10.1017/S0305004106009650
- [12] A. Browder, Introduction to function algebras, W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York-Amsterdam 1969 Xii+273 pp
- [13] J. Cabello Sánchez, A reflection on Tingley's problem and some applications, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 476 (2019), 319–336 doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2019.03.041
- [14] D. Cabezas, M. Cueto-Avellaneda, D. Hirota, T. Miura and A. Peralta, Every commutative JB*-triple satisfies the complex Mazur-Ulam property, Ann. Funct. Anal. 13 (2022), Paper No. 60, 8pp
- [15] L. Cheng and Y. Dong, On a generalized Mazur-Ulam question: extension of isometries between unit spheres of Banach spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 377 (2011), 464–470 doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2020.11.025
- [16] B. Chengiz, On extremely regular function spaces, Pac. J. Math. 49 (1973), 335–338

- [17] M. Cueto-Avellaneda, D. Hirota, T. Miura and A. Peralta, Exploring new solutions to Tingley's problem for function algebras Quaest. Math. Published online: 02 Jun 2022
- [18] M. Cueto-Avellaneda and A. M. Peralta, On the Mazur-Ulam property for the space of Hilbert-space-valued continuous functions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 479 (2019), 875–902 doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2019.06.056
- [19] M. Cueto-Avellaneda and A. M. Peralta, The Mazur-Ulam property for commutative von Neumann algebras, Linear Multilinear Algebra 68 (2020), 337–362 doi:10.1080/03081087.2018.1505823
- [20] G. G. Ding, On extension of isometries between unit spheres of E and $C(\Omega)$, Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.) 19 (2003), 793–800
- [21] G. G. Ding, The isometric extension of the into mapping from a $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ -type space to some Banach space, Illinois J. Math. **51** (2007), 445–453
- [22] J. Duncan, C. McGregor, J. Pryce and A. White, The numerical index of a normed space, J. London Math. Soc. 2 (1970), 481–488
- [23] X. N. Fang and J. H. Wang, Extension of isometries between the unit spheres of normed space and $C(\Omega)$, Acta Math.Sinica Engl Ser. **22** (2006), 1819–1824
- [24] R. J. Fleming and J. E. Jamison, Isometries on Banach spaces: function spaces, Chapman & Hall/CRC Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics, 129. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2003. x+197 pp. ISBN: 1-58488-040-6
- [25] T. W. Gamelin, Uniform algebras, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N. J., 1969
- [26] O. Hatori, *The Mazur-Ulam property for uniform algebras*, Studia Math. **265** (2022), 227–239 doi: 10.4064/sm210703-11-9
- [27] O. Hatori, S. Oi and R. Shindo Togashi, *Tingley's problems on uniform algebras* Jour. Math. Anal. Appl. **503** (2021), Paper No. 125346, 14 pp. doi: 10.1016/j.jmaa.2021.125346
- [28] A. Jiménez-Vargas, A. Morales-Campoy, A. M. Peralta and M. I. Ramírez, *The Mazur-Ulam property for the space of complex null sequences*, Linear Multilinear Algebra **67** (2019), 799–816 doi:10.1080/03081087.2018.1433625
- [29] V. M. Kadets and M. M. Popov, The Daugavet property for narrow operators in rich subspaces of C[0,1] and $L_1[0,1]$, St. Petersburg Math. J. 8 (1997), 571–584
- [30] P. Kajetanowicz, A general approach to the notion of Šilov boundary, Math. Z. **202** (1989), 391–395
- [31] O. F. K. Kalenda and A. M. Peralta, Extension of isometries from the unit sphere of a rank-2 Cartan factor, Anal. Math. Phys. 11, Article number:15 (2021)
- [32] R. Liu, On extension of isometries between unit spheres of $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ -type space and a Banach space E, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **333** (2007), 959–970 doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2006.11.044
- [33] T. Miura, Real-linear isometries between function algebras, Cent. Eur. J. Math. 9 (2011), 778–788 doi:10.2478/s11533-011-0044-9
- [34] M. Mori, Tingley's problem through the facial structure of operator algebras, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 466 (2018), 1281–1298 doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2018.06.050
- [35] M. Mori and N. Ozawa, Mankiewicz's theorem and the Mazur-Ulam property for C*-algebras, Studia Math. 250 (2020), 265–281 doi:10.4064/sm180727-14-11
- [36] W. Novinger, Linear isometries of subspaces of continuous functions, Studia Math. 53 (1975), 273–276
- [37] R. R. Phelps, Lectures on Choquet's Theorem. Second edition, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1757. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001
- [38] A. M. Peralta, Extending surjective isometries defined on the unit sphere of $\ell_{\infty}(\Gamma)$ Rev. Mat. Complut. **32** (2019), 99–114 doi:10.1007/s13163-018-0269-2

- [39] A. M. Peralta, On the extension of surjective isometries whose domain is the unit sphere of a space of compact operators, Filmat **36** (2022), 3075–3090
- [40] A. Peralta and R. Švarc, A strengthened Kadison's transitivity theorem for unital JB*-algebras with applications to the Mazur-Ulam property, preprint 2023, arXiv:2301.00895
- [41] Ch. Pomerenke, Boundary behavior of conformal maps, Grundlehrender Mathematischen Wissenschaften, 299 Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992, x+300 pp
- [42] N. V. Rao and A. K. Rao, Multiplicatively spectrum-preserving maps of function algebras. II, Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. 48 (2005), 219–229
- [43] T. S. S. R. K. Rao and A. K. Roy, On Silov boundary for function spaces, Topology Appl. 193 (2015), 175–181 doi:10.1016/j.topol.2015.07.005
- [44] Z. Semadeni, Banach spaces of continuous functions, Monografie Matematyczne, Warszawa, 1971
- [45] G. Šilov, On the extension of maximal ideals, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR **29** (1940), 83–84 (in Russian)
- [46] E. L. Stout, *The theory of uniform algebras*, Bogden & Quigley, Inc. Publishers, Tarrytown-on-Hudson, N. Y., 1971
- [47] D. N. Tan, Extension of isometries on unit spheres of L^{∞} , Taiwanese J. Math. **15** (2011), 819–827
- [48] D. N. Tan, On extension of isometries on the unit spheres of L^p -spaces for 0 , Nonlinear Anal.**74**(2011), 6981–6987 doi:10.1016/j.na.2011.07.035
- [49] D. N. Tan, Extension of isometries on the unit sphere of L^p spaces, Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.) **28** (2012), 1197–1208 doi:10.1007/s10114-011-0302-6
- [50] D. Tan, X. Huang and R. Liu, Generalized-lush spaces and the Mazur-Ulam property, Studia Math. 219 (2013), 139–153 doi:10.4064/sm219-2-4
- [51] R. Tanaka, A further property of spherical isometries, Bull. Aust. Math. Soc. **90** (2014), 304–310 doi:10.1017/S0004972714000185
- [52] R. Tanaka, The solution of Tingley's problem for the operator norm unit sphere of complex $n \times n$ matrices, Linear Algebra Appl. **494** (2016), 274–285 doi:10.1016/j.laa.2016.01.020
- [53] D. Tingley, Isometries of the unit sphere, Geom. Dedicata 22 (1987), 371–378
- [54] R. S. Wang, Isometries between the unit spheres of $C_0(\Omega)$ type spaces, Acta Math. Sci. (English Ed.) 14 (1994), 82–89
- [55] Risheng Wang, Isometries of $C_0^{(n)}(X)$, Hokkaido Math. J. **25** (1996), 465–519 doi:10.14492/hokmj/1351516747
- [56] Ruidong Wang and X. Huang, The Mazur-Ulam property for two dimensional somewhere-flat spaces, Linear Algebra Appl. **562** (2019), 55–62 doi:10.1016/j.laa.2018.09.024
- [57] P. Wojtaszczyk, Some remarks on the Daugavet equation, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 115 (1992), 1047–1052
- [58] X. Yang and X. Zhao, On the extension problems of isometric and nonexpansive mappings, In:Mathematics without boundaries. Edited by Themistocles M. Rassias and Panos M. Pardalos, 725– Springer, New York, 2014